Developing Crash Modification Factors for Adaptive Signal Control Technologies

PUBLICATION NO. FHWA-HRT-20-072

FEBRUARY 2021





Federal Highway Administration

Research, Development, and Technology Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center 6300 Georgetown Pike McLean, VA 22101-2296

FOREWORD

The research documented in this report was conducted as part of the Federal Highway Administration's (FHWA's) Evaluation of Low-Cost Safety Improvements Pooled Fund Study (ELCSI-PFS). FHWA established this PFS in 2005 to conduct research on the effectiveness of the safety improvements identified by the National Cooperative Highway Research Program's Report 500 Series as part of the implementation of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials Strategic Highway Safety Plan (NCHRP 2003–2009, AASHTO 2005). The ELCSI-PFS evaluations provide a crash modification factor and economic benefit–cost (B/C) analyses for each of the targeted safety strategies identified as priorities by PFS member States.

This study evaluated the safety effectiveness of adaptive signal control technologies (ASCTs) at urban corridors. The research team compiled safety data relevant to the evaluation from Florida, Texas, and Virginia. Results from Florida and Texas did not offer statistical evidence of a change in safety derived from implementing ASCTs, except for a statistically large and significant reduction in rear-end crashes. The results from Virginia produced evidence of significant reductions in total crashes, fatal and severe crashes, and angle crashes. The economic evaluation considered two scenarios: one in which the safety benefit estimated from the Virginia analysis is realized and one in which operational benefits are realized after ASCT installation. This report will benefit safety and traffic engineers and safety planners by providing greater insight into how ASCTs impact intersection safety.

Brian P. Cronin, P.E. Director, Office of Safety and Operations Research and Development

Notice

This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT) in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the use of the information contained in this document.

The U.S. Government does not endorse products or manufacturers. Trademarks or manufacturers' names appear in this report only because they are considered essential to the objective of the document.

Quality Assurance Statement

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) provides high-quality information to serve Government, industry, and the public in a manner that promotes public understanding. Standards and policies are used to ensure and maximize the quality, objectivity, utility, and integrity of its information. FHWA periodically reviews quality issues and adjusts its programs and processes to ensure continuous quality improvement.

TECHNICAL DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1. Report No.	2. Govern	nment Acces	sion No.	3. Recipi	ent's Catalog No.		
FHWA-HRT-20-072							
4. Title and Subtitle			5. Report Date				
Developing Crash Modification Factors for Adaptive Signal Con-			gnal Control	February	2021		
Technologies			6. Perfor	ming Organization (Code		
7. Author(s)				8. Perfor	ming Organization H	Report No.	
Raul Avelar (ORCID: 0000-0002	-3962-175	8), Eun Sug	Park (ORCID:				
0000-0001-6224-7007), Karen Di	xon (ORC	ID: 0000-00	02-8431-				
9304), Xiao Li (ORCID: 0000-00	02-6762-2	475), Minh	Li (ORCID:				
0000-0003-0129-1615), Bahar Da 9118)	dashova (ORCID: 000	0-0002-4592-				
9. Performing Organization Name	and Addı	ess		10. Work	Unit No.		
Texas A&M Transportation Instit	ute						
The Texas A&M University Syste	em			11. Contr	act or Grant No.		
College Station, TX 77843				DTFH6116D00039-0002			
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and	l Address			13. Type	of Report and Perio	d Covered	
Federal Highway Administration				Final Rep	oort; May 2017–Dec	ember 2020	
Office of Safety Research and De	velopment	t		14. Spon	soring Agency Code	e	
6300 Georgetown Pike				HRDS-2)		
McLean, VA 22101							
15. Supplementary Notes							
This report was prepared for the F	ederal Hig	ghway Admi	nistration (FHV	VA) Office	of Safety Research	and	
Development. The FHWA Task N	Aanager fo	or this projec	t, who is also th	e Program	Manager for the De	evelopment	
of Crash Modification Factors Pro	ogram, wa	s Roya Amja	idi (HRDS-20; 0	JRCID: 00	000-0001-7672-848	5).	
16. Abstract	C						
The objective of this study was to perform rigorous safety effectiveness evaluations of adaptive signal control							
technologies (ASCTs) used on urban corridors. To accomplish the goal of this study, the research team compiled							
change in safety derived from imp	ila virgiili Jementina	a. Results II $\Delta SCT_{S} = e_{1}$	cent for a statist	ically large	and significant red	uction in	
rear end crashes (0 560 crash mod	lification f	actor (CMF)) Conversely t	he results	from Virginia produ	ced evidence	
of significant reductions in total c	rashes (a 1	3.3-percent	reduction. or 0.3	867 CMF.	at the 10-percent sig	mificance	
level), fatal and severe crashes (a	35.8-perce	ent reduction	. or 0.642 CMF	at the 5-r	ercent significance	level), and	
angle crashes (39.6-percent reduc	tion, or 0.6	504 CMF, at	the 5-percent si	gnificance	e level). The research	n team also	
conducted an economic evaluation	n that cons	sidered two s	cenarios: one in	which the	e safety benefit estin	nated from	
the Virginia analysis is realized an	nd one in v	which no me	asurable safety	effect is re	alized (the worst-ca	se outcome	
observed in this study), but operat	ional bene	efits accrue a	fter ASCT insta	llation. W	hen assuming a 13.3	3-percent	
reduction in total crashes, the ben	efit–cost (B/C) ratio w	as estimated as	65.56. Wh	en assuming no safe	ety benefit	
derived from ASCT installations,	the B/C ra	tio estimate	reduced to 25.4	6. Data we	ere analyzed using n	nultiple	
estimation methods, including em	pirical Ba	yes, full Bay	es, and interrup	ted time se	eries with generalize	d estimating	
17 Key Words			18 Distributio	n Statemer	at		
A SCT a dentive signal control tasks - 1 - 2			No restrictions	This door	ument is available to	the public	
crash modification factor intersec	tion safety	, CIVII [°] ,	through the Na	tional Tec	hnical Information	Service	
crush mounteuron factor, intersec	anon saret	y	Springfield, V	A 22161.	innear information (Service,	
http://www.ntis.gov				s.gov			
19. Security Classif. (of this repor	t)	20. Security	y Classif. (of thi	s page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
Unclassified		Unclassifie	d	/	60	N/A	
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)		•	I	Reproducti	on of completed pag	ge authorized.	

	SI* (MODERN METRIC) CONVERSION FACTORS						
	APPROXIMA	TE CONVERSION	S TO SI UNITS				
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol			
		LENGTH					
in	inches	25.4	millimeters	mm			
ft	feet	0.305	meters	m			
yd	yards	0.914	meters	m			
mi	miles	1.61	kilometers	km			
		AREA					
in ²	square inches	645.2	square millimeters	mm ²			
ft ²	square feet	0.093	square meters	m ²			
yd²	square yard	0.836	square meters	m²			
ac	acres	0.405	hectares	ha L			
mr	square miles	2.59	square kilometers	KM ²			
	a	VOLUME					
ti oz	fluid ounces	29.57	milliliters	mL			
gai	gallons	3.785	liters	L			
Π ³		0.028		m° 3			
yas	cubic yards	U.765	cubic meters	m°			
	NOTE. Volt	MASS					
07		IVIA33	gromo	<i>a</i>			
02 Ib	ounces	20.35	grams	g ka			
т	short tops (2,000 lb)	0.434	mogagrams (or "motric top")	ky Ma (or "t")			
1		MDEDATURE (oxact do					
	161		grees				
°F	Fahrenheit	3(F-32)/9	Celsius	°C			
£	f		h	h.,			
IC fl	foot-candles	10.76	lux	IX			
	FOR	3.420 CE and DDECOUDE ar C		cu/m			
11-5	FUR	SE and PRESSURE OF S	DIRESS	N			
IDI Ibf/ip ²	poundforce	4.45	newtons	N kDo			
				KFd			
	APPROXIMAT	E CONVERSIONS	FROM SI UNITS				
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol			
		LENGTH					
mm	millimeters	0.039	inches	in			
m	meters	3.28	feet	ft			
m	meters	1.09	yards	yd			
km	kilometers	0 621					
		0.021	miles	mi			
		AREA	miles	mi			
mm ²	square millimeters	AREA 0.0016	miles square inches	mi in ²			
mm ² m ²	square millimeters square meters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764	miles square inches square feet	mi in ² ft ²			
mm² m² m²	square millimeters square meters square meters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195	miles square inches square feet square yards	mi in ² ft ² yd ²			
mm ² m ² m ² ha	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47	miles square inches square feet square yards acres	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac			
mm ² m ² m ² ha km ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ²			
mm ² m ² ha km ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ²			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams	0.021 AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 0.035	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz			
mm ² m ² ha km ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.402	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds cubic feet cubic yards	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb			
mm ² m ² ha km ² L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric tor")	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb)	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T			
mm ² m ² ha km ² L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") TEI	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 WPERATURE (exact deg	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb)	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t")	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") Celsius	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 MPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") Celsius	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 MPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") Celsius	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 MPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.0929	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit foot-candles	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C lx cd/m ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") Celsius	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 MPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C Ix cd/m ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers iters cubic meters cubic meters cubic meters grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") Celsius lux candela/m2	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 MPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919 CE and PRESSURE or S	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts STRESS	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc fl			
mm ² m ² ha km ² mL L m ³ m ³ g kg Mg (or "t") °C lx cd/m ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters cu	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386 VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307 MASS 0.035 2.202 1.103 WPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION 0.0929 0.2919 CE and PRESSURE or S 2.225	miles square inches square feet square yards acres square miles fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards ounces pounds short tons (2,000 lb) grees) Fahrenheit foot-candles foot-Lamberts STRESS poundforce	mi in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ² fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³ oz lb T °F fc fl lbf			

*SI is the symbol for International System of Units. Appropriate rounding should be made to comply with Section 4 of ASTM E380. (Revised March 2003)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION Adaptive Signal Control Technologies Chapter Summary	3 3 4
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW ON ASCT Safety Effectiveness Studies Benefit–Cost Ratio Studies Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER 3. STUDY DESIGN AND STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY	11
Study Design	12
Data Analysis Methods	
Empirical Bayes	
Full Bayes	
Chapter Summary	17
CHAPTER 4. DATA COLLECTION AND INTEGRATION	19
Florida	
ASCT and Roadway Design Data	21
Crash Data	
AADT Data	
Texas	
ASCT and Roadway Design Data	24
Crash Data	
AADT Data	
Virginia	
ASCT and Roadway Design Data	
Crash Data	
AADI Data	
Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER 5. SAFETY EFFECTIVENESS EVALUATION	
Florida Crash Analysis	
EB Before–After Analysis	
FB Before–After Analysis with Comparison Groups	
Texas Crash Analysis	
Virginia Crash Analysis	
Chapter Summary	
CHAPTER 6. ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	
Costs and Benefits of ASCT Installations	
Chapter Summary	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	45
ACKNOWDGMENTS	47
REFERENCES	49

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Equation. Poisson conditional distribution of yearly crashes at site <i>i</i>	14
Figure 2. Equation. Poisson mean parameterization	14
Figure 3. Equation. Gamma distribution for mixture parameter.	14
Figure 4. Equations. Definition of model covariates.	15
Figure 5. Equation. Reexpression of model parameterization for intervention coding	
variables	15
Figure 6. Equations. Mean crash predictions for evaluation subgroups.	16
Figure 7. Equation. Ratio of expected crash frequencies	16
Figure 8. Equation. After period counterfactual crash frequency estimate for treatment	
group	17
Figure 9. Equation. Index of effectiveness estimate.	17
Figure 10. Map. Study sites map. ACST sites in Florida.	22
Figure 11. Map. ASCT sites in Tyler, TX.	24
Figure 12. Map. ASCT sites in Virginia.	27
Figure 13. Equation. Link between average crashes and covariates	29
Figure 14. Equation. Model parameterization for intervention coding variables	34

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. List of counties represented in ASCT datasets.	. 19
Table 2. List of variables collected for each study site	. 20
Table 3. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Florida	. 23
Table 4. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Texas	. 25
Table 5. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Virginia.	. 28
Table 6. Number of Florida intersections for each implementation year.	. 29
Table 7. Estimates of coefficients for Florida SPFs developed based on a reference group	
consisting of crashes at 42 intersections	. 30
Table 8. Results of EB before–after evaluations based on crashes obtained from 45 treated	
and 42 control intersections in Florida.	. 31
Table 9. Results for FB evaluation of total, fatal and injury, PDO, angle, and rear-end	
crashes in Florida at 87 intersections.	. 33
Table 10. Results of EB before–after evaluations based on crashes obtained from 45 treated	
and 42 control intersections in Florida.	. 33
Table 11. Comparison of safety effectiveness estimates for ASCT obtained by EB and FB	
before-after evaluation approaches for Florida sites.	. 34
Table 12. Results of GLSR analysis of intersection crashes in Texas	. 36
Table 13. Results of GLSR analysis of intersection crashes in Virginia.	. 37
Table 14. Comparison of CMFs for ASCT obtained by State and analysis approach	. 38

LIST OF ACRONYMS OR ABBREVIATIONS

AADT	annual average daily traffic
ACS Lite	Adaptive Control Software Lite
ADT	average daily traffic
ASCT	adaptive signal control technology
B/C	benefit-cost
CMF	crash modification factor
DCMF	Development of Crash Modification Factors
DOT	department of transportation
EB	empirical Bayes
ELCSI-PFS	Evaluation of Low-Cost Safety Improvements Pooled Fund Study
FB	full Bayes
FDOT	Florida Department of Transportation
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
GEE	generalized estimating equation
GLSR	generalized linear segmented regression
ITS	interrupted time series design
ITS-CG	interrupted time series design with comparison group
KABCO	injury severity scale in which K is fatal injury, A is incapacitating injury, B is
	nonincapacitating injury, C is possible injury, and O is property damage only
MCMC	Markov Chain Monte Carlo
NCHRP	National Cooperative Highway Research Program
OPAC	optimized policies for adaptive control
PDO	property damage only
RHODES	Real Time Hierarchical Optimized Distributed Effective System
SCATS [™]	Sydney Coordinated Adaptive Traffic System
SCOOT	Split Cycle Offset Optimization Technique
SPF	safety performance function
TEV	total entering vehicles
TWLTL	two-way left-turn lane
TxDOT	Texas Department of Transportation
VDOT	Virginia Department of Transportation
vpd	vehicles per day

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) established the Development of Crash Modification Factors (DCMF) Program in 2012 to address highway safety researchers' need to evaluate new and innovative safety improvement strategies using reliable, quantitative estimates of the effectiveness of these approaches in reducing crashes.

The ultimate goal of the FHWA DCMF Program is to save lives by identifying new safety strategies that effectively reduce crashes and to promote these approaches for nationwide installation by providing measures of their safety effectiveness and benefit–cost (B/C) ratios established through research. State departments of transportation (DOTs) and other transportation agencies need to have objective measures for safety effectiveness and B/C ratios before investing in new strategies for statewide safety improvements.

Forty-one State DOTs provide technical feedback on safety improvements to the DCMF Program and implement new safety improvements to facilitate evaluations. These States are members of the Evaluation of Low-Cost Safety Improvements Pooled Fund Study (ELCSI-PFS), which is conducted under and supported by the DCMF Program.

The research summarized in this report evaluates adaptive signal control technologies (ASCTs) as a safety improvement strategy (safety intervention). ASCTs adjust when green lights start and end to accommodate changes in traffic demand, smoothing flow and easing congestion. The ELCSI-PFS Technical Advisory Committee determined that such an evaluation was among its high-priority evaluations.

Using total, fatal, injury, and property-damage-only crash frequencies, this evaluation assessed the potential to reduce crashes—expressed as crash modification factors (CMFs)—at locations where ASCTs have been implemented. An additional product of this research was an economic analysis that resulted in the development of B/C ratios for this safety improvement. Practitioners can use these CMFs and B/C ratios for decisionmaking during the project-development and safety-planning processes.

This research focused on multilane arterials in urban corridors, where these technologies are often implemented. The research team obtained geometric, traffic, and crash data at treated and control locations in Florida, Texas, and Virginia. The study design was an interrupted time series with a comparison group. Due to differences in the databases, the estimation was performed using either empirical Bayes (EB) or full Bayesian (FB) methods.

The results from Florida produced one statistically significant CMF, indicating a crash increase using the EB method, but the same CMF was statistically insignificant when using the more robust FB method. Considering both results, researchers concluded that no statistical evidence of any changes in safety was supported by the Florida data for the implementation of ASCTs. Results from Texas indicated a large, statistically significant reduction in rear-end crashes (44 percent), although researchers detected no other safety changes in this dataset. The results from Virginia indicated that statistically significant crash reductions are associated with ASCT installations (a 13.3-percent reduction in total crashes and a 35.8-percent reduction in fatal and severe crashes).

The economic analysis indicated a B/C ratio of 65.56 if ASCT installations indeed yield a 13.3-percent reduction in total crashes, as was found for Virginia. If for any reason new ASCT installations do not yield a safety benefit of such magnitude (e.g., in the case of Florida), researchers still found the congestion-reduction benefits to out-weigh the costs of installation and maintenance of the ASCTs. In this case, the B/C ratio was estimated as 25.46.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) established the Development of Crash Modification Factors (DCMF) Program in 2012 to identify new safety strategies that effectively reduce crashes. The program promotes these strategies for nationwide installation by providing reliable, quantitative estimates of their effectiveness in reducing crashes. State departments of transportation (DOTs) and other transportation agencies use these objective measures of safety effectiveness and benefit–cost (B/C) ratios resulting from economic analyses to support decisionmaking when selecting and investing in new strategies for statewide safety improvements.

Forty-one States are members of the Evaluation of Low-Cost Safety Improvements Pooled Fund Study (ELCSI-PFS), which provides technical feedback on priority safety improvement evaluations to the DCMF program and implements new safety treatments to facilitate these assessments. The ELCSI-PFS Technical Advisory Committee determined that evaluating adaptive signal control technologies (ASCTs) as a safety improvement strategy was among its high-priority activities.

This evaluation assessed the potential of the ASCT safety-improvement strategy to reduce crashes in terms of total, fatal, injury, and two intersection-specific crash types. The intent of the research team was to develop crash-modification factors (CMFs) and B/C ratios that would quantitatively describe safety improvements resulting from ASCT installation. Practitioners can use these CMFs and B/C ratios for decisionmaking in project-development and safety-planning processes.

ADAPTIVE SIGNAL CONTROL TECHNOLOGIES

ASCTs continuously monitor arterial traffic conditions and queuing at intersections, dynamically adjusting signal timing plan parameters to optimize one or more operational objectives (e.g., minimize overall delays, balance queue growth, or prevent queue spillback, among others) based on measured travel conditions in the corridor (FHWA 2014). Adaptive signal control is effective where daily variability in traffic demand results in unpredictable travel patterns. Adaptive signal controls rely on both traffic sensor systems to measure changes in normal travel patterns and algorithms to alter traffic signal timing parameters (i.e., cycles, splits, and/or offsets) in response to measured or predicted conditions.

Many traffic industry vendors have developed and deployed an array of ASCT products during the last 30 yr. Examples of these systems are the Split Cycle Offset Optimization Technique (SCOOTTM), Sydney Coordinated Adaptive Traffic System (SCATSTM), Real Time Hierarchical Optimized Distributed Effective System (RHODES), optimized policies for adaptive control (OPAC) (or virtual fixed cycle), Adaptive Control Software Lite (ACS Lite), and InSync.

The principal benefits of ASCTs compared to conventional fixed-time signal systems derive from a better distribution of signal green time, which improves corridor progression and reduces delay and congestion. Improving traffic flow and reducing stops may also improve traffic safety. This evaluation summarizes the findings from the research team's efforts to quantify potential safety improvements and economic benefits through the development of B/C ratios.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter introduced the project background and outlined the characteristics of ASCTs.

CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW ON ASCT

The research team began by conducting a review of the available literature on previous studies to determine the safety effectiveness and economic benefits of ASCT. The team found relevant studies assessing the safety effectiveness of ASCTs to compare with the results found in this research, while studies on the economic benefit provided inputs for the economic analysis described later in this report.

SAFETY EFFECTIVENESS STUDIES

Anzek et al. (2005) studied the safety benefits of incorporating an ASCT at an intersection in the city of Zagreb in Croatia. City transportation officials upgraded the signal operations from pretimed phasing to simple adaptive traffic control. The research team observed a 35-percent reduction in crashes based on an analysis that used before–after data from a single year (Anzek et al. 2005).

Dutta et al. (2010) analyzed the safety performance of SCATS based on crash and volume data from the ASCT test bed in Oakland County, MI. The researchers compared a 9-intersection corridor equipped with SCATS to a similar corridor containing 14 intersections with pretimed signals. Using the KABCO injury severity scale,¹ they estimated SCATS reduced total crashes per mile per year by 16.8 percent, crashes of severity type A by 31 percent, crashes of severity type B by 43 percent, crashes of severity type C by 10 percent, and crashes of type O by 16 percent. Researchers did observe a shift in type A and B crashes to type C crashes, but crash reductions were not significant at the 95-percent confidence level (Dutta et al. 2010).

Stevanovic (2010) conducted a comprehensive literature review and survey to address the major problems with ASCT implementations worldwide (with emphasis on the United States) and published the findings in National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Synthesis 403. The researcher reported that ASCT deployments indirectly improved the safety of traffic operations by reducing efficiency-related performance measures, which are highly correlated with some safety metrics. Stevanovic reported that the ASCT implementations reduced the number of stops, intersection delays, and queue lengths in 37, 37, and 23 percent of the cases, respectively, and increased average speeds in 35 percent of cases (Stevanovic 2010).

Stevanovic et al. (2011) developed a microsimulation model that connected to SCATS to generate vehicle trajectories. The researchers then fed these simulated trajectories into a surrogate safety assessment model to estimate crash occurrence. The study used real-world data from two State Routes in Utah and included crash data from both before and after ASCT installation. The ASCT produced fewer total and rear-end conflicts than traditional traffic signal control. However, crossing and lane-changing conflicts increased (Stevanovic et al. 2011).

Lodes and Benekohal (2013) evaluated the costs and safety benefits associated with implementing ASCTs. This evaluation used an online survey to query 62 agencies that had implemented an adaptive control system in the United States. The researchers evaluated crash

¹KABCO is an injury severity scale in which K is fatal injury, A is incapacitating injury, B is nonincapacitating injury, C is possible injury, and O is property damage only.

data for 1 yr before and 1 yr after the installation at three sites and observed a reduction in crashes. However, the sample size was too small to perform statistically rigorous tests (Lodes and Benekohal 2013).

Sabra et al. (2010, 2013) conducted a two-phase simulation study to balance safety and capacity in an adaptive signal system. The first phase identified the signal timing parameters that had the most impact on conflicts. Cycle length was the dominant factor affecting the number of conflicts. However, offsets, splits, left-turn phasing (protective/permissive), and phase sequence were also reported to be associated significantly with safety performance. For the second phase of this study, Sabra et al. developed safety performance functions (SPFs) using neural networks based on data from intersections equipped with both ASCTs and uncoordinated signals. The researchers trained the network with approximately 150 signal timing scenarios. The results showed reductions in conflicts along with improved travel time and reduced delays for various scenarios that optimized signal timing, including a surrogate safety measure that used an algorithm sensitive to conflicts (Sabra et al. 2010, 2013).

Despite their promise in evaluating safety, simulation-based safety evaluations of ASCTs are limited due to incomplete models of adaptive signal operations and performance. To overcome this issue, Ma et al. (2016) used the empirical Bayes (EB) method to analyze 47 urban and suburban intersections in Virginia where ASCTs were deployed. Analysis of 235 site-yr of before data and 66 site-yr of after data produced crash modification factor (CMF) values of 0.83 and 0.92, with a standard error of 0.05 for total intersection crashes and 0.08 for KABC crashes, respectively. The primary safety benefit of ASCT deployment was the reduction in PDO crashes, even though the safety benefits varied among corridors and different traffic volumes (Ma et al. 2015). This research observed reductions in total, fatal, and injury crashes at highway intersections where ASCTs were installed. Additional safety and mobility analyses were recommended before future installations.

Fink et al. (2016) collected data from SCATS-controlled intersections in Oakland, MI. For comparison purposes, Fink et al. collected a wide variety of geometric, traffic, and crash characteristic data for similar intersections in metropolitan areas elsewhere in Michigan. The researchers used negative binomial models to estimate three dependent crash variables. They used multinomial logit models to develop an injury severity model. A total of 498 signalized intersections were evaluated. This research estimated that SCATS controllers produced a CMF value of 0.807 for angle crashes. Severity results showed a statistically significant increase in nonserious injuries but no significant reduction in incapacitating injuries or fatal crashes (Fink et al. 2016).

Computer vision techniques can automate the extraction of traffic conflict details from video data. Tageldin et al. (2014) adopted this technique to conduct a before–after safety study of ASCTs. The evaluation focused on two intersections in Surrey, British Columbia, Canada. The analysis reported an increase in vehicle travel time after the ASCT installation coupled with a considerable increase in the frequency and severity of conflicts. The frequency of conflicts increased by 15.6 to 69.3 percent, and the severity index, defined by the authors as the exponential of minus half the squared ratio of time to collision to perception-reaction time, increased by 14.6 to 61.0 percent, depending on the type of road (major or minor) (Tageldin et al. 2014).

Khattak (2016) explored the potential safety benefits of ASCTs deployed in Pennsylvania. The first stage of this study focused on a 23-intersection corridor with adaptive signals. The second stage of the study selected 41 urban and suburban intersections equipped with SURTRAC and InSync ASCT systems. The author performed an EB before–after analysis, reporting a reduction in total crashes by 34 percent (a CMF value of 0.66) and fatal and injury crashes by 45 percent (a CMF value of 0.55) (Khattak 2016).

BENEFIT-COST RATIO STUDIES

Lodes and Benekohal (2013) argued that limited knowledge about operational and safety benefits and costs associated with ASCTs are deterrents for widespread adoption of these systems. The related literature indicates that the clearer benefits that ASCT deployments can yield are reductions in delays, number of stops, and other negative measures of traffic performance (Stevanovic 2010). The degree of operational benefit derived from installing ASCTs depends on several factors, such as the previous type of traffic control, the quality of previous signal timing, and the predictability or stability of traffic demand (Lodes and Benekohal 2013). ASCT deployments are most effective at locations where demand conditions are variable and unpredictable (FHWA 2012).

In addition to operational benefits, other potential nonsafety benefits of ASCTs noted in the literature include the following:

- Reduced fuel consumption.
- Decreased emissions and air pollution.
- Improvements in signal timing:
 - Decreased effort to develop signal timing plans; in some cases, it can reduce retiming intervals from years to minutes (FHWA 2012).
 - Lowered cost of periodic operational data collection and retiming.
 - \circ Reduced cycle length, which results in better pedestrian response.
- Establishment of public transport and emergency vehicle priority.
- Better accommodation of roadwork and special events (compared with traditional systems).

Hutton et al. (2010) evaluated travel time, delay, number of stops, fuel consumption, and emissions to analyze the operational benefits of ASCT deployment on a 12-signal, 2.5-mi arterial in Lee's Summit, MO. The period of analysis included 1 mo before and 5 mo after system installation. Depending on the time of day and direction of travel, analysis indicated that ASCTs decreased travel time through the corridor by 0 to 39 percent compared with closed-loop intersection control. All times of day in both directions of travel saw a decrease in the average number of stops, except for the AM peak period in the northbound direction. The research found reductions in the average number of stops through the corridor, fuel consumption, and emissions for every period where travel times decreased (Hutton et al. 2010). Given the results, no statistically significant increase in travel time was found during any time. The authors recommended a safety analysis be conducted, arguing that the reduced delays and stops along the corridor attributable to ASCT installations may relieve driver frustration and potentially result in fewer crashes related to aggressive driving. A simple before–after safety evaluation at select locations equipped with InSync systems showed crash reductions ranging from 15 to 30 percent (Clark 2013). Although this preliminary safety evaluation suggests this type of signal control may result in crash reductions, it is unknown how strong the evidence supporting this finding is because the analysis did not explicitly quantify uncertainty (i.e., standard errors).

Consistent with the vendor's claim, a study of 17 corridors with InSync deployments in Virginia reported a 17-percent reduction in crashes and an annual B/C ratio of 8.17 (Ma et al. 2016). A monetary evaluation of the benefits emphasized the need for deploying ASCTs.

Tian et al. (2011) documented the benefits of SCATS at a major signalized arterial in Las Vegas, NV, with 10 intersections. The researchers performed extensive before–after travel-time runs at selected routes within the study network. They observed no significant improvement in terms of arterial progression under normal traffic conditions when compared with optimized time-of-day coordinated-plan operations. Tian et al. (2011) speculated that ASCTs might work better when traffic flow is highly variable and therefore can serve demand for a longer period without involving major retiming efforts.

Kergaye et al. (2009) evaluated a SCATS deployment in Park City, UT. The researchers inferred that various performance metrics were measurably greater with SCATS turned on than with SCATS turned off, including travel time, number of stops, and stopped delay.

ASCT systems vary widely in their detection configurations, communications, system architecture, type of installation, and other characteristics. Costs and benefits vary greatly among the alternatives (USDOT 2011). For example, some systems have significantly lower costs than others because they integrate well with existing controllers (FHWA 2012). Even though ASCTs have been found to provide benefits in most cases, it is difficult to provide a detailed overview of the benefits (Stevanovic 2010). ASCT costs include the capital, operational, and maintenance costs of the system. In the literature, costs are often shown as the cost of system installation per intersection. However, NCHRP Synthesis 403 provides the following information regarding the costs of ASCT systems (Stevanovic 2010):

- Licensing costs to run a system contribute an additional 10 to 15 percent to the overall installation costs and are usually not one-time costs.
- Reported costs often include more than just the installation of the adaptive component of the system. Replacements of the local intersection hardware and software (sometimes even installation of new communication infrastructure) often occur in conjunction with installation of the adaptive algorithms.
- In addition to the costs of operating both the hardware and software of the system, infrastructure maintenance may be costlier because of the higher needs required by an ATCS operation (e.g., more detectors or newer communications).
- Consulting costs and the costs of maintaining ATCS hardware and software should also be considered.

Based on a survey of 62 jurisdictions in 2012, Lodes and Benekohal (2013) discussed a range of ASCT costs for different systems as well as detection types used with the system. The average cost per intersection was estimated at \$38,332 when cost data from all agencies were included

and at \$28,725 when agencies with the lowest and highest figures were excluded (to avoid undue influence of extreme values in the average). The authors report average costs per intersection by ASCT systems as well: \$26,250 for ACS Lite, \$30,739 for InSync, and \$61,161 for SCATS. When breaking down the cost per intersection by detection technology, values ranged from \$15,000 with magnetometer detection to \$50,552 with video detection.

An FHWA report provides estimates of the monetary benefit of reducing emissions, fuel consumption, and vehicle delays resulting from crash reductions (Lawrence et al. 2018).

CHAPTER SUMMARY

The chapter presented a brief literature review that covered past research on the topic and similar efforts to evaluate the safety effectiveness of the treatment. It also addressed prior efforts to develop B/C ratios for ASCTs. The next chapter outlines the study design and analytical methods implemented for the safety effectiveness evaluation in this project.

CHAPTER 3. STUDY DESIGN AND STATISTICAL METHODOLOGY

The research team considered multiple factors in designing this study. The study design had to account for the features of the available data and the ultimate purpose of the analysis. The research team initially identified potential data sources with one key element that would allow a before–after evaluation: known date of the installation of ASCTs. For a strong before–after study design, however, it is important to select a comparison group of untreated sites that have characteristics similar to those with installations.

In the case of ASCT, establishing a comparison group was a challenge. The literature review indicates that the effectiveness of the treatment depends on several factors, such as the previous type of traffic control, the phasing and general quality of previous signal timing, and the predictability or stability of traffic demand. According to FHWA, ASCT deployments are most effective at locations where demand conditions are variable and unpredictable (FHWA 2012). Selecting control sites that met these criteria required reviewing variations in detailed hourly traffic data, signal timing, and signal phasing, but limited data were available at this level of detail. The team decided to look at sites that had previously been evaluated by transportation agencies and determined to be good candidates for ASCTs. This approach served as a proxy indicator of operational conditions that may warrant ASCT installation, making these sites ideal for a comparison group evaluation. Because this approach has the potential to produce a small number of sites in the comparison group (given the limited availability of said operational evaluations), the research team procured crash and traffic data for any years available at the treated corridors. In cases where there were no or not enough sites to serve as a comparison group, the team employed the interrupted time series approach, in which time plays the role of a comparison group, accounting for changes in stable baseline conditions.

Initially, the research team focused on two to five ASCT-type alternatives, including the most commonly used in the United States (SCOOT, SCATS, RHODES, OPAC, and InSync). The team requested data from multiple agencies and received various positive responses from several (Oregon, Florida, South Dakota, Virginia, and Texas). The research team assessed the potential of each dataset received based on its format and completeness. The research team ultimately decided to pursue additional data collection and assembly for only three States: Florida, Texas, and Virginia. The limited number of sites and reduced availability of key variables (e.g., dates of installation or average annual daily traffic (AADT) for minor roads at intersections) were the main reasons for narrowing the scope of additional data collection.

Safety studies are often limited to evaluations of observational data since randomization is not possible and true experiments, such as randomized comparison group trials, are not feasible. This study initially planned a quasi-experimental design to the extent possible, such as the nonequivalent comparison group (or comparison group) design or a control series design (Campbell and Stanley 1966; Campbell and Ross 1968). Unfortunately, a robust comparison group could only be developed for one of the three evaluations.

STUDY DESIGN

The research team identified available sources that would support a before–after design to evaluate the safety of ASCTs. The number of ASCT sites in the United States that have been maintained in continuous operation for several years and can be aligned with a time series of crash data is limited in most of the cases the research team reviewed. This significantly influenced the study design.

As mentioned previously, the research team added comparison groups to strengthen the design whenever possible. As described by Stuart (2010), the study team used matching methods, such as propensity score matching, when assigning control locations for use in comparing treatment sites that have similar covariate distributions. "Matching" is a statistical technique pairing treated and similar nontreated sites in an observational study or quasi-experiment (i.e., when the treatment is not randomly assigned). Given the multiple locations and different installation years available in the final dataset, the research team implemented an interrupted time-series (ITS) design for Virginia and Texas data (because no comparison groups were available) and an interrupted time series design with comparison group (ITS-CG) for Florida data (Campbell and Ross 1968; Gillings et al. 1981; Wagner et al. 2002; Friedman et al. 2009; Grundy et al. 2009).

The research team implemented an ITS-CG to accommodate the small number of treatment sites and the lack of a large reference group. ITS-CG is a quasi-experimental method used to determine the impact of an intervention, such as a deployment of ASCTs (Campbell and Stanley 1966; Campbell and Ross 1968). The study design requires crashes to be aggregated monthly or yearly at each site.

According to Campbell and Ross (1968), for ITS, the variable of interest (i.e., the "causal" variable) is treated in the analysis as an indicator of a change or event at a single point in time that is determined a priori and independently of the data. Here the causal variable (intervention) is a deployment of ASCTs. ITS-CG has previously been applied to before–after data to evaluate the impact of the intervention treatments on crash frequency (Wagenaar and Maybee 1986; Wagenaar 1986). In an ITS-CG, an intervention group is also evaluated against a comparison group that had not undergone the treatment. In an ITS-CG, the comparison group is selected to be as similar as possible to the intervention group to better estimate the true implications of the intervention treatment more accurately.

DATA ANALYSIS METHODS

The researchers selected statistical methods that are appropriate to the study design and characteristics of the datasets to conduct the empirical analyses. Analysis methods used in this evaluation included variants of EB and full Bayesian (FB) estimation methods as well as generalized linear models with generalized estimating equations (GEEs). The following sections provide more details about some of these methods.

Empirical Bayes

In recent years, EB methods have been widely used as safety evaluation tools in before–after analyses. What is referred to as the EB method in the transportation safety community is actually a combination of a specific study design (i.e., a before–after design with a reference group) and

EB estimation methods. It is based on the concept of weighting predicted crashes from an SPF developed from reference sites and the observed crash data at evaluation sites. Transportation professionals use this approach to obtain estimates of expected crash counts at the treated sites, where the weighting factors depend on the overdispersion parameter and predicted frequencies estimated from the SPF (AASHTO 2010). This approach assumes that as the overdispersion parameter grows, the reliability of the SPF diminishes, and thus more weight is given to the observed data. This approach enables EB methods to correct for regression-to-the-mean bias. Although an EB before–after evaluation has been a preferred method for developing CMFs during the last two decades, employing this method may not be feasible in every case because an EB evaluation requires the user to develop and calibrate a reliable SPF, which in turn must be based on a relatively large reference group. Such a group was not always available for the ASCT improvements evaluated in this project (comparable reference sites were only available for one State), as discussed previously in this chapter.

The research team considered using an EB analysis when it was possible to obtain a reasonably large number of reference sites that are similar to the treatment sites. In that case, the team also used matching methods in selecting relevant reference sites.

Full Bayes

The research team applied FB methods for the before–after analysis with the ITS-CG design. Although the EB method has been widely used as a safety evaluation tool in observational before–after studies for more than two decades, the EB method has known limitations, such as requiring reliable SPFs based on a large reference group. Additionally, uncertainty in the estimated SPFs is not reflected in the final safety effectiveness estimate of the EB method. Even though inherent uncertainties are associated with the estimated SPF coefficients, EB methods do not allow those uncertainties to be incorporated into the estimated index of effectiveness or percentage by which crashes are reduced.

FB methods have been introduced as an alternative to EB methods because they can compensate for the aforementioned issues associated with the EB approach. An important point is that FB methods refer to estimation methods that can, in principle, be applied to any study design, including cross-sectional and before-after designs. FB methods are becoming more popular in safety effectiveness evaluations because of their ability to overcome the previously identified limitations associated with EB methods. As a result, they have been successfully applied in many observational before-after studies over the last decade (Pawlovich et al. 2006; Li et al. 2008; Park et al. 2010, 2019). Several authors have also performed comparative studies that explore the differences between EB and FB approaches and have found that, even with a smaller sample size, the FB method can perform as well as the EB method (Park et al. 2010 2019; Miaou and Lord 2003; Persaud et al. 2010; Yanmaz-Tuzel and Ozbay 2010). However, while some early (and recent) applications of FB have been confined within the framework of the popular EB method (i.e., a design-analysis combination, as understood in the transportation safety community), they are considered a hybrid of the EB and FB methods as understood in this document (Lan et al. 2009; Persaud et al. 2010). Those early applications of FB adopted a framework that is very close to the EB approach in that they compared the predicted crashes in the after period without treatment to the observed crashes in the after period, not to the long-term expected crashes in the after period with the treatment.

Park et al. (2010, 2019) presented an FB multivariate approach tailored to before–after studies using a comparison group along with a clear step-by-step implementation procedure within the formal Bayesian modeling framework (rather than as a hybrid of EB and FB approaches). Under this approach, the counterfactual crash frequency in the after period is predicted for the treatment group based on the before period and the observed change in the comparison group. This prediction is defined as the *expected* crash frequency in the before period for the treatment group adjusted by the ratio of the expected crash frequencies for the before and after periods in the comparison group. In this framework, this estimate of predicted crashes is compared to the long-term *expected* crash frequencies in the after period for the treatment group as opposed to the *observed* crash frequencies in the after period, as is the case in the popular EB method. The FB evaluation of ASCT in this study builds on the basic modeling framework from previous research (Park et al. 2010, 2019).

Modeling Framework for FB Analysis of Before–After Designs with Comparison Groups

An ITS-CG was adapted as a study design for the FB analysis to assess the safety effectiveness of ASCT. In this study, researchers employed Poisson–gamma mixture models. Poisson–gamma mixture models are equivalent to negative binomial distributions for observed crash frequencies. This section presents the modeling framework of Poisson–gamma mixture models for an FB before–after evaluation with comparison groups.

Let y_{it} denote an observation at site *i* where (i = 1, ..., I) during time (year) *t* where (t = 1, ..., T). That is, y_{it} is the number of crashes that occurred in year *t* at site *i*. Let *K* be the number of covariates, and let $\mathbf{X}_{it} = (1, X_{1it}, ..., X_{Kit})$ be a (K+1)-dimensional vector of covariates.

Let $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_0, \beta_1, ..., \beta_K)'$ denote the (K+1)-dimensional column vector of the regression coefficients for the crash count. Let v_{it} denote a vector of yearly random effects corresponding to site *i* and year *t*, explaining extra-Poisson variability. Suppose that, conditional on v_{it} and $\boldsymbol{\beta} \in R^{K+1}$, y_{it} follows a Poisson distribution with mean μ_{it} , as in figure 1.

$$y_{it} | v_{it}, \boldsymbol{\beta} \sim Poisson(\mu_{it})$$

Figure 1. Equation. Poisson conditional distribution of yearly crashes at site *i*.

Figure 2 gives the value of μ_{it} .

$$\mu_{it} = v_{it} \exp(\mathbf{X}_{it} \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta})$$

Figure 2. Equation. Poisson mean parameterization.

The y_{it} are independent given the μ_{it} , as in figure 3.

$$v_{it} \sim Gamma(\eta, 1/\eta)$$

Figure 3. Equation. Gamma distribution for mixture parameter.

Under the model, the marginal distribution of y_i is given as a negative binomial distribution with mean λ_i and variance $\lambda_i [1 + \lambda_i | \eta]$, where $\lambda_i = \exp(\mathbf{X}_i \boldsymbol{\beta})$.

Let the elements of the covariate vector $X_{it} = (1, X_{1it}, ..., X_{Kit})$ be those in figure 4.

$$\begin{split} X_{1it} &= Trt_i, \\ X_{2it} &= time, \\ X_{3it} &= Trt_i \times time, \\ X_{4it} &= \mathbf{I}[t > t_{0i}], \\ X_{5it} &= Trt_i \times \mathbf{I}[t > t_{0i}], \\ X_{6it}, \dots, X_{Kit} \text{: intersection characteristic variables} \end{split}$$

Figure 4. Equations. Definition of model covariates.

Where:

 $Trt_i = 1$ if the *i*th site is a treatment site, otherwise it is zero.

time = the *t*th year in the study period (t = 1, 2, ..., T).

 t_{0i} = the year in which the countermeasure was installed at site *i* (for a site in the comparison group, it is defined to be the same year as that for the corresponding treatment group).

 $I[t > t_{0i}]$ = the intervention variable, which takes a value of 1 if *t* belongs to the after period, otherwise it is zero.

Then, figure 2 can be rewritten as figure 5.

$$\mu_{it} = \upsilon_{it} \exp\left(\beta_0 + \beta_1 \operatorname{Trt}_i + \beta_2 \operatorname{time} + \beta_3 \operatorname{Trt}_i \times \operatorname{time} + \beta_4 \mathbf{I} \left[t > t_{0i}\right] + \beta_5 \operatorname{Trt}_i \times \mathbf{I} \left[t > t_{0i}\right] + \beta_6 X_{6it} + \dots + \beta_K X_{Kit}\right)$$

Figure 5. Equation. Reexpression of model parameterization for intervention coding variables.

This model can be viewed as a change-point model, which assumes that at the time of implementation there is a possible change in the response variable with respect to time at treatment sites that might be attributable to the implementation of the countermeasure. Specifically, the coefficient for $X_{5it} = Trt_i \times \mathbf{I}$ [$t > t_{0i}$] represents a possible increase or decrease in crashes at the treatment site resulting from countermeasure implementation. As previously noted, the comparison group also has the same imaginary before and after periods defined as those for the matching treatment group, although no treatment is applied to sites in the comparison group. The term corresponding to the change in the slope before and after the countermeasure implementation was not included in figure 5 due to the limited number of years for which there were crash data (e.g., there was only 1 yr of crash data for the after period at 25 sites with ASCT implemented in 2015 and 2 yr of crash data for the after period at 20 sites with ASCT implemented in 2014). For each group (comparison (*Comp*) and treatment (*Trt*)) and period (before (*B*) and after (*A*)), figure 5 can be rewritten in terms of *mean crash count* versus *time* as in figure 6.

$$(\mu_{it})_{Comp,B} = \upsilon_{it} \exp(\beta_{0} + \beta_{2}time + \beta_{6}X_{6it} + \dots + \beta_{K}X_{Kit}),$$

$$(\mu_{it})_{Comp,A} = \upsilon_{it} \exp(\beta_{0} + \beta_{4} + \beta_{2}time + \beta_{6}X_{6it} + \dots + \beta_{K}X_{Kit}),$$

$$(\mu_{it})_{Trt,B} = \upsilon_{it} \exp\{\beta_{0} + \beta_{1} + (\beta_{2} + \beta_{3})time + \beta_{6}X_{6it} + \dots + \beta_{K}X_{Kit}\},$$

$$(\mu_{it})_{Trt,A} = \upsilon_{it} \exp\{\beta_{0} + \beta_{1} + \beta_{4} + \beta_{5} + (\beta_{2} + \beta_{3})time + \beta_{6}X_{6it} + \dots + \beta_{K}X_{Kit}\},$$

Figure 6. Equations. Mean crash predictions for evaluation subgroups.

An FB analysis of the model given in figure 1, figure 2, figure 3, and figure 5 requires (second-level) prior distributions for the parameters, β_0 , β_1 , β_2 ,..., β_K as well as η to be chosen. Implementation of such a model calls for simulation-based methods, such as a Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) method. This method is one of the most frequently used techniques for computing posterior distributions. It consists of a sampling technique that enables simulation of posterior samples from the complex distributions of interest (Gelfand and Smith 1990; Liu 2001; Gilks et al. 1996).

Steps for Implementing FB Before–After Evaluations with Multiple (G) Comparison Groups

Once the posterior samples for model parameters and the true average crash frequencies (μ_{it}) per period for the treatment and comparison groups have been obtained, the following steps can be used to estimate the index (θ) of safety effectiveness (CMF) of the ASCT:

- 1. Specify the hyperparameter values (c_0, C_0, r_0, R_0) for prior distribution of model parameters.
- 2. Obtain the draws of model parameters and the expected annual crash frequency for each site *i* and year *t* by MCMC.
- 3. Obtain posterior distributions of crash frequencies during the before period for the treatment group (μ_{TB}), during the after period for the treatment group (μ_{TA}), during the before period for the comparison group (μ_{CB}), and during the after period for the comparison group (μ_{CA}) by taking an average of the expected crash frequencies over the appropriate years and sites.
- 4. Obtain a posterior distribution of the ratios of the expected crash frequency before and after periods for the comparison group (comparison ratio) for the *g*th comparison group using figure 7.

$$R_{C(g)} = \frac{\mu_{CA(g)}}{\mu_{CB(g)}}, \qquad g = 1, \cdots, G$$

Figure 7. Equation. Ratio of expected crash frequencies.

5. Obtain a posterior distribution of the predicted frequencies that would have occurred without treatment in the after period for the *g*th treatment group using figure 8.

$$\pi_{(g)} = \mu_{TB(g)} R_{C(g)}$$

Figure 8. Equation. After period counterfactual crash frequency estimate for treatment group.

6. Obtain a posterior distribution of the index of effectiveness (of the countermeasure) for the crashes using figure 9.

$$\theta = \frac{\sum_{g=1}^{G} \mu_{TA(g)}}{\sum_{g=1}^{G} \pi_{(g)}} = \frac{\sum_{g=1}^{G} \mu_{TA(g)}}{\sum_{g=1}^{G} \left\{ \mu_{TB(g)} R_{C(g)} \right\}}$$

Figure 9. Equation. Index of effectiveness estimate.

- 7. Obtain the point estimates for β_k and θ as the sample means of corresponding posterior distributions.
- 8. Obtain the uncertainty estimates for β_k and θ as the sample standard deviations of corresponding posterior distributions.
- 9. Construct the 95-percent (or 90-percent) credible intervals of β_k and θ using the 2.5th (or 5th) percentiles and the 97.5th (or 95th) percentiles of the corresponding posterior distributions. If the credible interval contains the value 1, then no significant effect has been observed. A credible interval of less than 1 (i.e., the upper limit of the interval is less than 1) implies that the countermeasure has a significant positive effect on safety (i.e., a reduction in crashes). A credible interval greater than 1 (i.e., the lower limit of the interval is greater than 1) implies that the countermeasure has a significant negative effect on safety (i.e., an increase in crashes).

The FB approach addresses the regression-to-the-mean problem by focusing on estimating the *expected* number of crashes for both before and after periods without directly using the *observed* crash count in the comparison. This feature implies that the observed yearly crash count is a noisy measurement of the true long-run mean crash frequency. As mentioned previously, to account for regression-to-the-mean bias, some of the previous FB applications compared the predicted crash count (based on both reference sites and the before period of treated sites) to the *observed* crash count for the after period (Lan et al. 2009; Persaud et al. 2010). This feature is rather like the EB approach. Although the observed after period crash count is an unbiased estimate of the expected after period crash count, it is still subject to uncertainty (and thus it is not the ideal estimate of the true crash count). In the FB approach, this uncertainty, as well as the uncertainty in other model parameters, is incorporated into the final CMF estimate.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter described the statistical methodology, analysis methods, and tools that the research team used in performing the work in this project. This chapter presented and discussed the challenges associated with the evaluation and the critical steps for developing a database with a

large enough comparison group, and how including longer interrupted time series can help mitigate the risk of regression-to-the-mean bias. Then, the rationale for a before–after study design was presented. Finally, this chapter outlined statistical analysis methods to develop statistical models of crashes to be used in estimating the CMFs of interest. The next chapter outlines the subsequent data collection effort in detail.

CHAPTER 4. DATA COLLECTION AND INTEGRATION

Although ASCT systems have been in use for 30 yr (roughly 20 yr in the United States), many of them were implemented for demonstration or experimental purposes. Additionally, in most of the cases the research team reviewed, only a limited number of ASCT sites have been in continuous operation over multiple years, which enables them to be aligned with a time series of crash data. Further, the United States has various detection layouts and strategies to adjust network traffic control of ASCT deployments. As noted in chapter 3, the research team focused on two to five ASCT-type alternatives (SCOOT, SCATS, RHODES, OPAC, and InSync), the most commonly used in the United States. Ultimately, datasets from three States were prepared for evaluation due to the limited number of sites with sufficient implementation history and complete data for before and after periods.

As noted in chapter 3, after requesting data and locations for evaluation from several agencies, the research team received positive responses from multiple States (Oregon, Florida, South Dakota, Virginia, and Texas). The research team assessed the potential of each State's dataset to be included in the study based on its format and completeness. Ultimately, datasets representing two ASCT types (ASC Lite and InSync) from three States (Florida, Texas, and Virginia) were prepared for evaluation due to the limited number of sites with sufficient implementation history and complete data for before and after periods.

Overall, the datasets from these three States represented 191 different intersections with ASCT installed or sites with comparable characteristics. Ten different counties were represented, as shown in table 1.

States (Number of ASCT Sites/Intersections)	County (Number of ASCT Sites/Intersections)				
Florida (98)	• Orange (78)				
	• Pinellas County (20)				
Texas (25)	• Tyler (25)				
Virginia (68)	• Salem (5)				
	• Charlottesville (7)				
	• Stephen's City (7)				
	• Warrenton (6)				
	• Winchester (22)				
	• York County (17)				
	• Staunton (4)				

Table 1. List of counties represented in ASCT datasets.

For all three datasets, the research team selected 46 variables to characterize each ASCT installation site. This variable information can be broadly classified into four categories:

- Traffic control device (TCD) (ASCT-related variables)—contains 13 variables to describe when and where the ASCT was installed or scheduled to be installed but does not include the after period (in which case the site was part of a comparison group in the analysis).
- Roadway design (RD) elements—contains 25 road-related variables to characterize the road segments connected with each study site (intersection). In this study, "major legs" refers to the road segments constituting a corridor and typically having higher AADT values; conversely, "minor legs" refers to the road segments intersecting the main corridor and typically showing lower AADT values.
- Traffic volume—contains two variables to show the AADT for the major and minor legs connected with a specific study site in a given year.
- Crash data—contains six variables to show the intersection crash counts for each study site, including crash counts based on their injury severity (e.g., KABCO). To select intersection-related crashes, the research team limited its selections to crashes occurring within a 250-ft buffer around each intersection.

Table 2 lists the variables collected for the study sites.

Variable		
Category	Variable Name	Variable Description
TCD	ID	Unique intersection number
TCD	InstDate	Installation year
TCD	Year	Data collection year
TCD	Period	Indicating data collected before (B), during (D), or after (A)
		the installation year
TCD	State	State
TCD	County	County
TCD	CorrName	Corridor name
TCD	MJ_Name	Major street name
TCD	MN_Name	Minor street name
TCD	Project	ASCT installation project name
TCD	Y	Latitude
TCD	Х	Longitude
TCD	TrafCont	Traffic control (ASCT) type
RD	NumLegs	Number of legs
RD	NumLegs_MJ	Number of major legs
RD	NumLanes_MJ	Number of through lanes for intersection's major legs
RD	NumeLanes_LT_MJ	Number of left-turn lanes for intersection's major legs
RD	NumeLanes_RT_MJ	Number of right-turn lanes for intersection's major legs
RD	TWLTL_MJ	TWLTL for major legs (binary)
RD	RT_Chan_MJ	Right-turn channelization for major legs (binary)
RD	BLane_MJ	Number of bike lanes for intersection's major legs
RD	LaneWid_MJ	Lane width for intersection's major legs
RD	BLaneWid_MJ	Bike lane width for intersection's major legs
RD	ShldWid_MJ	Shoulder width for intersection's major legs
RD	MedWid MJ	Median width for intersection's major legs

Table 2. List of variables collected for each study site.

Variable				
Category	Variable Name	Variable Description		
RD	NumLegs_MN	Number of minor legs		
RD	NumLanes_MN	Number of through lanes for intersection's minor legs		
RD	NumeLanes_LT_MN	Number of left-turn lanes for intersection's minor legs		
RD	NumeLanes_RT_MN	Number of right-turn lanes for intersection's minor legs		
RD	TWLTL_MN	TWLTL for minor legs (binary)		
RD	RT_Chan_MN	Right-turn channelization for minor legs (binary)		
RD	BLane_MN	Number of bike lanes for intersection's minor legs		
RD	LaneWid_MN	Lane width for intersection's minor legs		
RD	BLaneWid_MN	Bike lane width for intersection's minor legs		
RD	ShldWid_MN	Shoulder width for intersection's minor legs		
RD	MedWid_MN	Median width for intersection's minor legs		
RD	Med_Type_MJ	Median type for major legs: raised (R), flush (F), depressed		
		(D), and no median (N)		
RD	Med_Type_MN	Median type for minor legs: raised (R), flush (F), depressed		
		(D), and no median (N)		
Traffic volume	AADT_MJ	Average AADT for major legs		
Traffic volume	AADT_MN	Average AADT for minor legs		
Crash data	Crash	Total number of crashes		
Crash data	Κ	Fatal crashes		
Crash data	А	Major injury		
Crash data	В	Minor injury		
Crash data	С	Possible injury		
Crash data	0	PDO		
Crash data	Angle	Angled motor vehicle crash		
Crash data	Rear End	Rear-end motor vehicle crash		

TWLTL = two-way left-turn lane.

The following sections discuss the data collection and integration steps for the databases representing these States in greater detail.

FLORIDA

ASCT and Roadway Design Data

The research team collected data from 98 intersections from two counties in Florida, including 78 from Orange County and 20 from Pinellas County (figure 10). These ASCT signals were distributed through six areas (or corridors):

- Walt Disney World in Orange County.
- Florida Mall in Orange County.
- University Boulevard in Orange County.
- East Bay Drive in Pinellas County.
- West Bay Drive in Pinellas County.
- Florida State Road 686 in Pinellas County.

All 20 ASCT signals in Pinellas County were equipped with InSync systems in 2014. The InSync ASCT signals in Orange County were installed in three different years: 2015 (25 intersections), 2016 (11 intersections), and 2017 (42 intersections). Because after period crash data were not available for the intersections treated in 2017, the research team used these sites as comparison corridors. The roadway design characteristics for major and minor legs were manually measured and collected from Google EarthTM satellite imagery (Google Inc. 2019).



Screen capture by Texas A&M Transportation Institute using ArcGIS software. © 2019 Esri and its licensors. All rights reserved. Service Layer Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community.

Figure 10. Map. Study sites map. ACST sites in Florida.

Crash Data

The research team collected 7 yr of crash data (2010 through 2016) for each intersection from the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) State Safety Office (FDOT 2019). The research team created a 250-ft buffer around each intersection to identify intersection-related crashes, resulting in data for a total of 10,385 crashes being collected at the study sites.

AADT Data

The research team collected 7 yr of AADT data (2010 through 2016) for the major and minor legs. AADT data came from three data sources:

- Historical Annual Average Daily Traffic Shapefile, which was obtained from the FDOT Transportation Data and Analytics Office website. This shapefile contains 5 yr of AADT data (2014 through 2018) for road segments in Florida (FDOT 2019).
- Orange County traffic counts accessed through the Orange County Government website. This web-based platform provides up to 20 yr (1999 through 2018) of traffic volume data for each traffic count location (Orange County Government Florida 2019).
- Pinellas County traffic count maps obtained from the county's website. These maps represented 8 yr of traffic averages (2011 through 2018) (Pinellas County Florida 2019).

For the road segments with missing AADT values, the research team used the traffic volume of the nearest roadway segment with the same functional class to estimate the missing value. These data are labeled as imputed AADT in the database. Table 3 gives the descriptive statistics of the study sites features.

Variable Description	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
Number of legs for each study site	3.00	4.00	3.82	0.39
Number of major legs	2.00	2.00	2.00	0.00
Number of through lanes for major legs	2.00	9.00	545	1.04
Number of left-turn lanes for major legs	0.00	3.00	1.40	0.57
Number of right-turn lanes for major legs	0.00	2.00	0.63	0.54
Lane width for major legs	10.25	13.09	11.63	0.68
Shoulder width for major legs	0.00	16.54	1.34	2.94
Median width for major legs	0.00	178.98	16.22	18.97
Number of minor legs	1.00	2.00	1.82	0.39
Number of through lanes for minor legs	0.00	6.00	2.80	1.22
Number of left-turn lanes for minor legs	0.00	2.00	1.42	0.55
Number of right-turn lanes for minor legs	0.00	2.00	0.92	0.57
Lane width for minor legs	9.73	22.79	12.85	1.85
Shoulder width for minor legs	0.00	13.22	1.14	2.94
Median width for minor legs	0.00	49.09	10.46	10.69
AADT for major legs	14,223.00	207,000.00	47,731.36	17,797.57
AADT for minor legs	1,669.00	64,500.00	14,828.67	12,036.16
Total crashes	0.00	65.00	15.14	11.83
Fatal crashes (K)	0.00	2.00	0.05	0.23
Major injury (A)	0.00	9.00	0.96	1.36
Minor injury (B)	0.00	15.00	2.02	1.92
Possible injury (C)	0.00	21.00	3.64	3.18
Property damage only (O)	0.00	48.00	8.39	7.54
Angle	0.00	20.00	3.14	3.39
Rear end	0.00	37.00	8.54	7.02

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Florida.

In addition to the variables in table 3, indicator (binary) variables were collected to determine the presence of two-way left-turn lanes (TWLTL) and right-turn channelization at both major and minor legs.

TEXAS

ASCT and Roadway Design Data

The research team collected data from 25 intersections in Tyler, TX (figure 11). These locations were on three corridors:

- Loop 323 from US 69N south, east, and north to Commerce Street.
- US 69 (Broadway) from Amherst Drive to Cumberland Road.
- Beckham Avenue from Frontage Road (SH 31) south to Loop 323.



Screen capture by Texas A&M Transportation Institute using ArcGIS software. © 2019 Esri and its licensors. All rights reserved. Service Layer Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community.

Figure 11. Map. ASCT sites in Tyler, TX.

These ASCTs were installed in 2012 using ASC Lite equipment. The roadway design elements for major and minor legs were manually measured and collected from Google Earth satellite imagery (Google Inc. 2019).

Crash Data

The research team collected 8 yr of crash data (2010 through 2017) for each study site. The Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) Crash Records Information System supplied the crash data (TxDOT 2019a). As for the Florida sites, the research team created a 250-ft buffer around each intersection to select intersection-related crashes. The period of analysis was expanded to 8 yr to obtain a stable baseline of comparison for the after period. The team identified a total of 4,067 intersection-related crashes during the 2010–2017 period.

AADT Data

The TxDOT Roadway Inventory Data table supplied the AADT data for the major and minor legs of each intersection (TxDOT 2019b). The research team collected 8 yr of AADT data corresponding to the years of crash data (2010 through 2017) for both major and minor legs. Table 4 gives the descriptive statistics of the resulting Texas database.

Variable Description	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
Number of legs for each study site	3.00	4 00	3.88	0.32
Number of major legs	2.00	2 00	2.00	0.02
Number of through lanes for major legs	4 00	6.00	5.00	0.00
Number of left-turn lanes for major legs	0.00	2.00	1.24	0.51
Number of right-turn lanes for major legs	0.00	1.00	0.60	0.49
Lane width for major legs	11.06	15.54	12.12	0.97
Shoulder width for major legs	0.00	11.94	3.01	4.50
Median width for major legs	0.00	34.12	7.79	10.27
Number of minor legs	1.00	2.00	1.88	0.32
Number of through lanes for minor legs	2.00	6.00	3.00	1.30
Number of left-turn lanes for minor legs	0.00	2.00	1.32	0.68
Number of right-turn lanes for minor legs	0.00	1.00	0.80	0.40
Lane width for minor legs	11.07	18.35	13.16	1.33
Shoulder width for minor legs	0.00	11.56	2.00	3.81
Median width for minor legs	0.00	29.17	3.24	6.69
AADT for major legs	13,366.00	43,589.00	28,767.70	9,174.28
AADT for minor legs	73.00	37,134.00	8,725.05	961.07
Total crashes	0.00	99.00	20.38	17.26
Fatal crashes (K)	0.00	1.00	0.05	0.22
Major injury (A)	0.00	2.00	0.31	0.57
Minor injury (B)	0.00	9.00	1.66	1.52
Possible injury (C)	0.00	19.00	3.97	3.73
Property damage only (O)	0.00	71.00	14.35	13.00
Angle	0.00	13.00	3.11	2.74
Rear end	0.00	15.00	2.39	2.58

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Texas.

As with the Florida dataset, indicator (binary) variables were also collected to determine the presence of TWLTLs and right-turn channelization at both major and minor roads.

VIRGINIA

ASCT and Roadway Design Data

The research team collected data from 68 intersections with the ASCT systems from 7 counties in Virginia (figure 12). These ASCTs were installed along 10 different corridors:

- Virginia State Route 277 in Stephen's City.
- Virginia State Route 419 (Electric Road) in Salem.
- Virginia State Route 7 in Winchester.
- US 11 in Winchester.
- US 17/50/522 in Winchester.
- US 50 (Northwestern Pike) in Winchester.
- US 17 York City Route in York City.
- US 250 Pantops Mountain Road in Charlottesville.
- US 250 Staunton Route in Staunton.
- US 29 in Warrenton.



Screen capture by Texas A&M Transportation Institute using ArcGIS software. © 2019 Esri and its licensors. All rights reserved. Service Layer Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community.

Figure 12. Map. ASCT sites in Virginia.

In 2011, 18 InSync ASCT systems were installed at study sites, while 2012 saw 50 installations. The research team manually measured the roadway design characteristics of major and minor legs using Google Earth satellite imagery (Google Inc. 2019).

Crash Data

The Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT) provided crash data for 8 yr (2006 through 2013) (VDOT 2018). The research team collected a total of 3,547 intersection-related crashes at these study sites from 2006 through 2013.²

²The study team obtained this crash data via email from the Safety, Operations, and Traffic Engineering Team at VDOT in February 2018.

AADT Data

VDOT also provided 8 yr of AADT data (2006 through 2013) (VDOT 2018). Table 5 lists the descriptive statistics for the features of study sites in Virginia.

Variable Description	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
Number of legs for each study site	3	4.00	3.75	0.43
Number of major legs	2	2.00	2.00	0.00
Number of through lanes for major legs	2	7.00	4.09	0.97
Number of left-turn lanes for major legs	0	2.00	1.22	0.48
Number of right-turn lanes for major legs	0	2.00	1.22	0.51
Lane width for major legs	10	16.06.00	12.13	1.05
Shoulder width for major legs	0	22.59.00	7.47	4.97
Median width for major legs	0	126.39.00	20.17	19.09
Number of minor legs	1	2.00	1.74	0.44
Number of through lanes for minor legs	0	5.00	2.19	0.86
Number of left-turn lanes for minor legs	0	4.00	1.25	0.75
Number of right-turn lanes for minor legs	0	2.00	1.15	0.62
Lane width for minor legs	6	22.50	13.09	2.34
Shoulder width for minor legs	0	16.02	2.40	3.78
Median width for minor legs	0	32.75	3.90	6.90
AADT for major legs	6,140	52,723.00	29,300.22	11,754.22
AADT for minor legs	329	39,755.00	6,228.08	6,047.88
Total crashes	0	39.00	6.52	5.69
Fatal crashes (K)	0	1.00	0.01	0.11
Major injury (ABC)	0	14.00	2.23	2.31
Property damage only (O)	0	29.00	4.24	4.09
Angle	0	18.00	1.88	2.29
Rear end	0	34.00	3.54	3.95

Table 5. Descriptive statistics of ASCT sites in Virginia.

In addition to the variables in table 5, and similar to the data collection approach for the Florida and Texas sites, the team also gathered indicator (binary) variables to identify TWLTLs and right-turn channelization at both major and minor roads.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter documented the data collection and integration activities for a multistate ASCT safety evaluation. Since ASCT systems have been in use for roughly 20 yr in the United States, the research team developed time series safety datasets from three States: Florida, Texas, and Virginia. For each of these States, this chapter described the collection and assembly of the datasets, which comprised data reflecting ASCT and roadway design, crash, and AADT variables. The next chapter details the statistical analyses performed on these datasets and the corresponding results of the safety effectiveness evaluation of ASCTs.

CHAPTER 5. SAFETY EFFECTIVENESS EVALUATION

This chapter documents the statistical evaluations and analyses performed to develop CMFs from the databases for Florida, Texas, and Virginia developed in this study. Researchers assessed the safety benefits of ASCT on the following crash types: total, fatal and injury (obtained as the sum of K, A, B, and C crashes), and PDO (O) crashes. Due to nonnegligible differences in intersection characteristics across the three States, the research team performed a separate crash analysis for each State.

FLORIDA CRASH ANALYSIS

The research team conducted the safety evaluation of ASCT in Florida by employing two different evaluation approaches: EB before–after analysis and FB before–after analysis with comparison groups. ASCTs were installed at 98 intersections in Florida. As described in chapter 4, the team obtained yearly crash data for each of the 98 intersections for 2010 through 2016. The ASCT implementation year for each intersection varies between 2014 and 2017. Because the period for the Florida crash data is from 2010 through 2016, the team used the intersections with ASCT implementation in 2017 as the reference sites for the EB analysis and the comparison sites for the FB analysis. The 11 intersections treated in 2016 were excluded from both EB and FB before–after analyses because there were no after data. Table 6 gives the number of intersections for each implementation year.

Implementation Year	Number of Intersections	Site Type
2014	20	Treatment sites
2015	25	Treatment sites
2016	11	Removed
2017	42	Comparison sites
Total	98	All

Table 6. Number of Florida intersections for each implementation year.

EB Before–After Analysis

In the EB method, the research team used SPFs based on the data from the reference sites to estimate the expected crash frequencies at the treated sites had treatments not been applied. Negative binomial regression models are often used to derive the SPFs. In this evaluation, SPFs are calibrated for each year of the before and after periods rather than just for each period (Hauer 1997; Park et al. 2010, 2019).

The research team developed the negative binomial regression models with indicator variables by year (2010 through 2016) to control for general trends along with safety-sensitive variables, as shown in table 7, following the general functional form shown in figure 13.

$$\log \mu_{it} = \beta_{vr} + \beta_1 \times \log TEV + \dots + \beta_k \times X_k$$

Figure 13. Equation. Link between average crashes and covariates.

The term β_{yr} denotes a different intercept per year, which indicates the baseline level of the log mean annual crash frequency for that year, while X_k indicates any additional covariate utilized in the analysis and logTEV is defined as the natural logarithm of the total entering vehicles as a measure of exposure. The underlying assumption for the above model is that the relationship between the log mean annual crash frequency and other covariates is linear for a given year.

			Fatal and			
Coefficient	Variable	Total	Injury	PDO	Angle	Rear End
$\beta_{yr} = 2010$	Indicates year $= 2010$	-14.604	-16.944	-18.906	-6.9698	-15.3787
$\beta_{yr} = 2011$	Indicates year = 2011	-14.58	-16.92	-18.912	-6.8989	-15.3784
$\beta_{yr} = 2012$	Indicates year $= 2012$	-14.461	-16.699	-18.908	-6.9573	-15.2317
$\beta_{yr} = 2013$	Indicates year $= 2013$	-14.341	-16.732	-18.61	-7.0334	-15.0794
$\beta_{yr} = 2014$	Indicates year $= 2014$	-14.309	-16.729	-18.561	-6.9879	-15.0815
$\beta_{yr} = 2015$	Indicates year $= 2015$	-14.189	-16.622	-18.421	-6.8844	-14.9591
$\beta_{yr} = 2016$	Indicates year $= 2016$	-14.25	-16.624	-18.516	-6.6899	-15.0585
β_1	LogTEV	0.9501	1.071	1.2729	0.5711	0.9123
β_2	NumLegs_MN	0.4233	0.2071	0.4298	_	0.3385
β_3	NumLanes_MJ	0.2372	0.2417	0.2954	0.1925	0.2925
β_4	NumLanes_MN	0.1488			0.0902	0.1747
β_5	RT_Chan_MJ	-0.6926	-0.5338	-0.8981	-0.9369	-0.7176
β_6	RT_Chan_MN				0.3028	
β_7	NumLanes_LT_MJ		0.2543		0.1359	
β_8	NumLanes_RT_MJ			0.1784	0.1037	0.1217
β9	MedWid_MJ	0.0205				0.0261
β_{10}	MedWid_MN				0.003	
β_{11}	Med_Type_MJ_R	0.5521	0.4525	0.6499	0.7283	0.4699
β_{12}	LaneWid_MJ	0.3538	0.3747	0.389		0.3734
β_{13}	LaneWid_MN	-0.0634		-0.0761	-0.051	-0.0540
β_{14}	BLaneWid_MJ			0.0543	_	0.0239
K	Dispersion	0.1302	0.1053	0.1294	0.1772	0.1474
χ^2 :d.f	Pearson chi-square:DF	1.2181	1.1454	1.1449	1.0899	1.3364

 Table 7. Estimates of coefficients for Florida SPFs developed based on a reference group consisting of crashes at 42 intersections.

-Variable not included in model.

 $LogTEV = log(AADT_MJ+AADT_MN).$

The research team employed independent variables to develop SPFs based on the reference group, which consisted of 42 intersections treated in 2017. Table 7 presents the estimated coefficients for SPFs for total, fatal and injury, and PDO crashes.

Table 8 presents the results of an EB before–after evaluation for crashes. For each type of crash in table 8, the research team used the SPFs estimated from the reference sites to predict the expected number of crashes had ASCTs not been installed. The results of table 8 are not statistically significant for total, fatal and injury, PDO, and rear-end crashes. The results were statistically significant, however, for angle crashes.

	Crashes in the After Period				
		EB Estimate	$\mathbf{CMF}\left(\hat{\mathbf{ heta}} ight)$	95-Percent CI	90-Percent CI
Crash Type	Observed	$(\hat{\pi})$	(SE)	for CMF	for CMF
Total	1,093	1,046.0	1.045 (0.038)	(0.970, 1.119)	(0.983, 1.106)
Fatal and injury	484	465.6	1.039 (0.055)	(0.931, 1.147)	(0.949, 1.129)
PDO	607	595.2	1.022 (0.049)	(0.926, 1.119)	(0.942, 1.103)
Angle	245	202.6	1.207 (0.089)*	(1.033, 1.382)	(1.061, 1.353)
Rear end	558	556.1	1.003 (0.050)	(0.905, 1.101)	(0.921, 1.085)

Table 8. Results of EB before-after evaluations based on crashes obtained from 45 treatedand 42 control intersections in Florida.

*EB estimates were statistically significant either at the 90- or 95-percent confidence level. EB estimate ($\hat{\pi}$) = the predicted number of crashes in the after period had ASCT not been deployed; $\hat{\theta}$ = the estimated index of effectiveness; CI = confidence interval; SE = standard error. Note: Numbers in parenthesis represent standard errors.

As shown in table 8, the analyses estimated the CMFs close to 1.0 in value. However, none of these estimates was statistically significant.

FB Before-After Analysis with Comparison Groups

The research team also analyzed crashes by employing an FB before–after evaluation method described in chapter 3. The 42 sites treated in 2017 that do not have after data were used as a reference group in the EB analysis and as comparison sites in the FB analysis. In the safety effectiveness estimate, the EB analysis cannot account for the uncertainty characteristic of the SPF estimates. In contrast, the FB analysis can incorporate uncertainty into the model parameters for the final safety effectiveness estimate.

The treatment group consists of crashes from intersections where ASCTs were installed during 2014 and 2015. As in the case of EB analysis, the 11 intersections implemented in 2016 (table 6) were excluded from the treatment group because before data were not available. Therefore, the FB analysis is also based on crashes from 87 intersections consisting of 45 treatment sites where ASCTs were installed in 2014 and 2015 and 42 comparison sites where ASCTs were installed in 2017.

The research team fitted the Poisson–gamma mixture model with a change point, shown in figure 5, to total, fatal and injury, PDO, angle, and rear-end crashes. This model included appropriate indicator functions for site type (specifying whether a segment is a treatment site or a comparison site) and period (specifying whether it belongs to the before or the after period) as well as time trend for each site type and other covariates. Exposure was accounted for by the total entering vehicles (TEV) variable, obtained by adding both major and minor leg AADTs. Additionally, the following variables (defined in table 2) were included as model covariates:

- NumLegs_MN.
- NumLanes_MJ.
- NumLanes_MN.
- RT Chan MJ.
- NumLanes_RT_MJ.

- NumLanes_LT_MJ.
- MedWid_MJ.
- Med_Type_MJ_R.
- LaneWid_MJ.
- LaneWid_MN.
- BLaneWid_MJ.

The research team followed the steps for implementing FB before–after evaluations with two comparison groups (corresponding to implementation years 2014 and 2015 with G = 2) presented in chapter 2. For the prior distributions of the model parameters, proper but diffuse priors were used to reflect the lack of precise a priori knowledge of the parameters. The inferences on the parameters of interest were based on the samples from the posterior distribution obtained by the MCMC algorithm coded in MATLAB. The functional form of this model was initially presented and discussed in chapter 3 (figure 5).

As noted in chapter 3, the coefficient for $X_{5it} = Trt_i \times \mathbf{I}[t > t_{0i}]$ represents a possible increase or decrease in crashes at the treatment site resulting from countermeasure implementation. For each group and period, figure 5 can be rewritten in terms of *mean crash count* versus *time*, as illustrated in figure 6.

Also as noted in chapter 3, an FB analysis of the model given in figure 1, figure 2, figure 3, and figure 5 requires the (second level) prior distributions for the parameters β_0 , β_1 , β_2 , ..., β_K , as well as η , to be chosen.

Table 9 summarizes the results from the FB analysis based on 5,000 posterior samples collected over 250,000 iterations by subsampling every 50th sample after discarding the first 50,000 draws.

			Fatal and	PDO		
Coefficient	Variable	Total	Injury	Crashes	Angle	Rear End
β_0	Intercept	-20.0280	-11.0490	-22.4837	-4.8859	-12.7079
β_1	Trt	0.0934	-0.0897	0.5825	0.3594	-0.9146
β_2	time	0.0896	0.0630	0.0977	0.0758	0.0947
β_3	<i>Trt</i> × <i>time</i>	0.0018	-0.0130	0.0475	0.0582	0.0254
β_4	$\mathbf{I}[t > t_0]$	-0.1002	-0.0533	-0.0755	-0.1633	-0.1281
β_5	$Trt \times \mathbf{I}[t > t_0]$	0.0326	0.0789	-0.1577	0.0387	-0.0978
β_6	NumLegs_MN		0.0655	0.5707	-4.8859	_
β_7	NumLanes_MJ		0.02448	-0.5586	_	0.0987
β_8	NumLanes MN	0.4497			0.1298	0.5701
β_9	RT_Chan_MJ	0.1735	-0.0475	-0.0468	0.4063	-1.3440
β_{10}	RT_Chan_MN	0.4235			-0.3219	3.0909
β_{11}	NumLanes_LT_MJ	—	0.1154		-0.0989	
β_{12}	NumLanes_RT_MJ	1.9914		2.3759	-0.5380	1.7768
β_{13}	MedWid_MJ	-0.0421			0.4250	-0.0401
β_{14}	MedWid_MN	0.0373				0.0203
β_{15}	Med_Type_MJ_R	1.8991	0.3874	1.9617	0.0081	1.9188
β_{16}	LaneWid_MJ		0.2987	-1.1083	0.5794	
β_{17}	LaneWid_MN		—	0.2682		0.3120
β_{18}	BLaneWid_MJ			-0.1058	-0.0065	
β_{19}	LogTEV	1.8004	0.6583	3.0843	0.3218	0.6817

Table 9. Results for FB evaluation of total, fatal and injury, PDO, angle, and rear-endcrashes in Florida at 87 intersections.

-Variable not included in model.

 $LogTEV = log(AADT_MJ+AADT_MN).$

Table 10 presents the CMFs estimates obtained from the FB model detailed in table 9.

Table 10. Results of EB before-after evaluations based on crashes obtained from 45 treate
and 42 control intersections in Florida.

		Fatal and			
Index of Effectiveness	Total	Injury	PDO Crashes	Angle	Rear End
$CMF(\hat{\theta})$	1.0421	1.0326	1.0274	1.2396	0.9398
Std. dev. CMF	0.0628	0.0958	0.0840	0.1612	0.0781
95-percent credible	(0.9223,	(0.8539,	(0.8706,	(0.9528,	(0.7963,
interval	1.1713)	1.2354)	1.2036)	1.6092)	1.1044)
90-percent credible	(0.9415,	(0.8847,	(0.8939,	(0.9980,	(0.8190,
interval	1.1486)	1.1979)	1.1720)	1.5266)	1.0766)

 $\hat{\theta}$ = estimated index of effectiveness.

Notes: Std. dev. represents the posterior standard deviation for θ . Numbers in parenthesis indicate standard errors.

The research team obtained the estimated index of effectiveness (CMF, or $\hat{\theta}$) by accounting for the changes in unmeasured factors between the before and after periods using the comparison ratio (following steps 4 through 6) described in chapter 3. The uncertainty estimates for the CMF, the posterior standard deviation, and the 90- or 95-percent credible interval play the same role as the standard error and the 90- or 95-percent confidence interval in nonBayesian or EB approaches. The team determined slight but not statistically significant increases (i.e., negative crash reductions) in total, fatal and injury, and PDO crashes have occurred.

Table 11 summarizes the results from the EB and FB analyses. The results from both analyses appear to be consistent in general, except that the increase in angle crashes is statistically significant based on the EB estimates, while it is not statistically significant based on the FB estimates. Because the FB analysis method better accounts for uncertainty in the data used than the EB method, FB uncertainty estimates can be larger and quantify true uncertainty more accurately than those resulting from the EB approach. As a result, EB analysis results often underestimate true uncertainty and may less accurately indicate statistical significance.

before-after evaluation approaches for Florida sites.						
Approach	Total	Fatal and Injury	PDO Crashes	Angle Crashes	Rear-End Crashes	

Table 11. Comparison of safety effectiveness estimates for ASCT obtained by EB and FB

Approach	Total	Injury	PDO Crashes	Angle Crashes	Crashes
EB	1.045	1.039	1.022	1.207**	1.003
	(0.038)	(0.055)	(0.049)	(0.089)**	(0.050)
FB	1.0421	1.0326	1.0274	1.2396	0.9398
	(0.0628)	(0.0958)	(0.0840)	(0.1612)	(0.0781)

**Statistically significant results at the 95-percent confidence level.

Notes: The uncertainty estimate is the standard error for EB and the posterior standard deviation for FB. Numbers in parenthesis indicate standard errors.

TEXAS CRASH ANALYSIS

The Texas crash data contain 25 intersections with ASCTs installed in 2012. The yearly crash data were obtained at each of those intersections for years 2010 through 2017. Because comparison sites (or reference sites) were not available in the Texas data, the research team conducted the safety evaluation of ASCTs in Texas by employing a generalized linear segmented regression (GLSR) analysis.

Specifically, team members applied a negative binomial regression model that introduces *time* as a variable to control for overall trend and *Intervention* (installation of ASCT) as a variable to estimate the effect of the ASCT. For *time*, the years prior to the installation of ASCT were coded as negative integers starting at -1 and descending in magnitude, while the years after the installation of ASCT were coded as positive integers starting at 1 and ascending in magnitude. For *Intervention*, the years corresponding to the after period were coded 1, and the years in the before period were coded 0. Then, at intersection *i*, the log of the expected number of annual crashes in year *t* can be expressed, as shown in figure 14.

$\log \mu_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \times time_t + \beta_2 \times Intervention + \beta_3 X_{i,3t} + \dots + \beta_k X_{i,kt}$

Figure 14. Equation. Model parameterization for intervention coding variables.

In this equation, μ_{it} is the expected number of annual crashes in year t at intersection i, and X comprises variables representing intersection characteristic. For the variable *time*, the years prior to the installation of ASCT were coded as negative integers starting at -1 in descending order,

and the years after the installation of ASCT were coded as positive integers starting at 1 in ascending order. For the variable *Intervention*, the years corresponding to the after period were coded 1, and the years in the before period were coded as 0. In addition to *time* and *Intervention*, the following variables (defined in table 2) were included in the analysis:

- NumLegs_MJ.
- NumLegs_MN.
- NumLanes_MJ.
- NumLanes_LT_MJ.
- NumLanes_RT_MJ.
- RT_Chan_MJ.
- LaneWid_MJ.
- MedWid_MJ.
- NumLanes_MN.
- NumLanes_LT_MN.
- NumLanes_RT_MN.
- RT_Chan_MN.
- MedWid MN.
- Med Type MJ R.
- Med Type MN R.
- LogTEV.

The GEE was employed as an estimation method to account for correlation in crash counts obtained for multiple years from the same intersection.

Table 12 contains the estimated coefficients for negative binomial regression models considered and the corresponding estimates for percentage by which crashes will be reduced. It shows slight crash reductions in total and PDO crashes, a modest increase in fatal and injury crashes, and a slight increase in angle crashes. None of the changes were statistically significant. On the other hand, the team observed a statistically (and practically) significant crash reduction of 44 percent for rear-end crashes.

		Estimate by Crash Type				
			Fatal and			
Coefficient	Variable	Total	Injury	PDO	Angle	Rear End
β_0	Intercept	-14.143**	-16.576**	-13.516**	-5.2938	-20.6933**
β_1	time	0.0174	-0.0209	0.0352	0.0108	0.1486**
β_2	Intervention	-0.0005	0.0996	-0.0486	0.0276	-0.5794**
β_3	NumLegs_MJ	-0.3847**	-0.2461**	-0.5009 **	0.6508**	-0.5935**
β_4	NumLegs_MN	0.0511	0.6356**	-0.1742**	0.6309**	0.8163**
β_5	NumLanes_MJ	2.525**	1.9969**	2.7139**	1.4583**	2.6729**
β_6	NumLanes_LT_MJ	-1.0888**	-0.508 **	-1.243**	-0.9945	0.3090
β_7	NumLanes_RT_MJ	-1.8851**	-1.4174**	-2.0594**	-1.2115**	-2.2929**
β_8	TWLTL_MJ	0.2626**	0.3569**	0.3414**	-0.2849	0.3225
β9	RT_Chan_MJ	0.5365**		0.728**	0.7933**	-0.3363
β_{10}	LaneWid_MJ	0.2043**	0.2999**	0.1537**	-0.1038	0.4729**
β_{11}	ShldWid_MJ	0.0809**	0.0686**	0.0945**	0.0587**	0.0312
β_{12}	NumLanes_MN	0.4255**	0.2035**	0.4798**	0.8173**	-0.2951
β_{13}	NumLanes_LT_MN	0.61**	0.1818**	0.7739**	0.4976**	-0.0065
β_{14}	NumLanes_RT_MN		0.2393**		-1.2216**	0.9491**
β_{15}	RT_Chan_MN	2.0342**	1.5874**	2.2288**	0.2653	2.8650**
β_{16}	BLane_MN	0.2446**	—	0.3753**	0.5129**	-0.4552 **
β_{17}	LaneWid_MN	-0.1538**	-0.166**	-0.1505 **	-0.2293**	-0.3107**
β_{18}	ShldWid_MN	0.0802**	0.0863**	0.0709**	0.0098	0.1339**
β_{19}	MedWid_MN	0.1151**	0.0745**	0.1336**	0.0157	0.0719**
β_{20}	Med_Type_MJ_R	-4.7645**	-3.684**	-5.0937**	-2.3655**	-5.2907**
β_{21}	Med_Type_MN_R	-1.3699**	-0.5109**	-1.6537**	-1.9653**	-0.1041
β_{22}	LogTEV	0.5691**	0.6917**	0.4931**	0.1326	0.8172**
CMF		1.000	1.105	0.953	1.028	0.560**

Table 12. Results of GLSR analysis of intersection crashes in Texas.

**Statistically significant results at the 95-percent confidence level.

—The variable was not included in the model.

Notes: The GEE approach was used as an estimation method. Estimates of the percentage by which crashes are reduced are obtained by $\{1 - \exp(\beta_I)\} \times 100$, where β_I represents the estimated coefficient of the intervention variable.

VIRGINIA CRASH ANALYSIS

Virginia transportation agencies installed 68 intersections with ASCTs. As described in chapter 4, the yearly crash data were obtained at each of those 68 intersections for years 2006 through 2013. ASCTs were installed at 18 intersections in 2011 and 50 intersections in 2012. Because comparison sites (or reference sites) were not available for the Virginia data, the research team conducted the safety evaluation of ASCTs in Virginia by employing a GLSR analysis. The functional form of the model was the same as that used in the Texas analysis and illustrated in figure 14.

The underlying assumption for this model is that the relationship between the log mean annual crash frequency and time is linear within each period (i.e., for the time period before the intervention and independently for the time period after the intervention). The intercept β_0 represents the baseline level of the log mean annual crash frequency, and β_1 represents the baseline trend that corresponds to the change in the log mean annual crash frequency that occurs

each year before the intervention. The coefficient β_2 represents a possible increase or decrease in crashes at the treatment site resulting from countermeasure implementation. The term corresponding to the change in slope before and after countermeasure implementation was not included due to the limited number of crash years (e.g., there was only 1 yr of after crash data at the 50 sites treated in 2012 and 2 yr of after crash data at 18 sites treated in 2011).

Table 13 contains the estimated coefficients for negative binomial regression models considered and the corresponding estimated percentage by which crashes are reduced.

		Estimates by Crash Type				
Regression			Fatal and			
Coefficient	Variable	Total	Injury	PDO	Angle	Rear End
β_0	Intercept	-9.2664**	-9.1251**	-8.8667**	-0.5665	-15.5373**
β_1	Time	-0.0132	0.0186	-0.0328	0.0034	-0.0221
β_2	Intervention	-0.1432*	-0.4437**	0.0191	-0.5045 **	0.0195
β_3	NumLegs_MN	0.3198	0.2829	0.2602	0.1295	0.3218
β_4	NumLanes_MJ	-0.0102	_	-0.0269	_	-0.1073
β_5	NumLanes_LT_MJ	0.2530	-0.1759	0.3925**	0.4271**	
β_6	NumLanes_RT_MJ	-0.3726**	-0.2510	-0.4597**	-0.4989**	-0.2907
β_7	RT_Chan_MJ	-0.4560**	-0.2766*	-0.4649**	-0.3853	-0.4759
β_8	LaneWid_MJ	0.1461**		0.1528**		0.1372
β_9	MedWid_MJ	-0.0080 **		-0.0111**	-0.0053	-0.0083
β_{10}	NumLanes_MN	0.0101	0.1795			0.0990
β_{11}	NumLanes_LT_MN	-0.1496	-0.1170	-0.1554	-0.2442	
β_{12}	NumLanes_RT_MN	0.3204**	0.2385*	0.3617**	0.5515**	0.1931
β_{13}	RT_Chan_MN	0.3530**	0.2891*	0.3244**	0.2835	0.3371**
β_{14}	MedWid_MN	-0.0121*		-0.0214**		-0.0175**
β_{15}	Med_Type_MJ_R	-0.1392	-0.1896	-0.1247	-0.2733	-0.1410
β_{16}	Med_Type_MN_R	-0.0452	-0.0895		-0.2886	
β_{17}	LogTEV	0.8769**	0.9305**	0.7983**	0.1199	1.4551**
CMF		0.867*	0.642**	1.019	0.604**	1.020

Table 13. Results of GLSR analysis of intersection crashes in Virginia.

*Statistically significant results at the 90-percent confidence level.

**Statistically significant results at the 95-percent confidence level.

-Variable not included in model.

Note: The GEE approach was used as an estimation method.

In addition to *time* and *Intervention*, several variables were included as predictors in the negative binomial regression model for the Virginia crash data. These predictors included the following:

- NumLegs_MN.
- NumLanes_MJ.
- NumLanes_LT_MJ.
- NumLanes RT MJ.
- RT_Chan_MJ.
- LaneWid MJ.
- MedWid MJ.
- NumLanes MN.

- NumLanes_LT_MN.
- NumLanes_RT_MN.
- RT_Chan_MN.
- MedWid_MN.
- Med_Type_MJ_R.
- Med Type MN R.
- LogTEV.

The research team applied the GEE approach as an estimation method to account for correlation in crash counts obtained for multiple years from the same intersection. Table 13 contains the estimated coefficients for the negative binomial regression models considered and the corresponding estimates of percentage by which crashes are reduced. Table 13 shows that, for total as well as fatal and injury crashes, the research team found that statistically significant (at the 90-percent confidence level and 95-percent confidence level, respectively) crash reductions occurred, although there was a slight, statistically insignificant, increase in PDO crashes.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter documents the statistical evaluations of the three databases developed in this study to estimate CMFs for ASCT. Separate analyses were implemented for each dataset attending to the differences in data structure. Table 14 summarizes the results from these analyses.

State	Approach	Total	Fatal and Injury	PDO	Angle	Rear End
FL	EB	1.045	1.039	1.022	1.207**	1.003
FL	FB	1.042	1.033	1.027	1.239	0.940
ΤX	GLSR	1.000	1.105	0.953	1.028	0.560**
VA	GLSR	0.867*	0.642**	1.019	0.604**	1.020

Table 14. Comparison of CMFs for ASCT obtained by State and analysis approach.

*Statistically significant results at 90-percent confidence level. **Statistically significant results at 95-percent confidence level.

For Florida, the study design was an ITS-CG. For this evaluation, the research team conducted both EB and FB methods. The database included 87 intersections: 45 treated with InSync ASCT systems and 42 comparison sites. The results of both analyses indicated no statistically significant changes in total, fatal and injury, PDO, or rear-end crashes. The increase in angle crashes for the Florida sites, however, was statistically significant based on the EB analysis, although it was not statistically significant for the FB analysis. This was expected because, as explained in chapter 3, the FB analysis accounts for parameter uncertainty ignored in the EB procedure. Thus, the uncertainty estimates from the FB approach are expected to be closer to true uncertainty than those from the EB approach.

The analysis of the three Texas corridors was based on a negative binomial GLSR analysis using GEEs for estimation. The research team obtained data from 25 intersections in Tyler, TX, that were treated with ASC Lite installations. Eight years of crash data were collected to implement an interrupted time series analysis. The research team estimated a CMF of 1.000 (0-percent

reduction) for total crashes (statistically insignificant). It also showed a 10.5-percent increase in fatal and injury crashes (statistically insignificant), a 4.7-percent decrease in PDO crashes (statistically insignificant), a 2.8-percent increase in angle crashes (statistically insignificant), and a 44-percent reduction in rear-end crashes (statistically significant).

For Virginia, the team obtained data from 50 intersections treated with InSync ASCT at different points in time to conduct safety evaluations. Seven years of safety data were collected to implement an interrupted time series analysis. The research team estimated the CMF of 0.867 for total crashes based on a negative binomial GLSR analysis using GEEs for estimation. The analysis indicated a 13.3-percent reduction in total crashes (statistically significant at the 10-percent significance level), a 35.8-percent reduction in fatal and injury crashes (statistically significant at the 5-percent significance level), a 1.9-percent increase in PDO crashes (statistically insignificant), a 39.6-percent reduction in angle crashes (statistically significant at the 5-percent significance level), and a 2.0-percent increase in rear-end crashes (statistically insignificant).

CHAPTER 6. ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

As part of this effort, the research team conducted an economic analysis to estimate B/C ratios for installing ASCT on urban arterials. Except for the case of Virginia (where the results indicated safety improvements associated with ASCT installations), the safety evaluations indicated small and insignificant changes in safety due to the ASCT treatments. In general, these results suggest that ASCT may provide safety benefits under certain conditions (e.g., for the sites in Virginia), but no evidence of a safety detriment was identified for locations where the conditions were not met (e.g., for the Florida and Texas sites). The research team performed the B/C analysis documented in this chapter based on the two potential safety outcomes that the analyses revealed (either a safety benefit or no change in safety performance).

To perform a B/C analysis, the research team followed the procedures recommended in the FHWA document entitled *Highway Safety Benefit–Cost Analysis Guide* (Lawrence et al. 2018). The team obtained the value of a statistical life from the most recent memorandum posted on the U.S. Department of Transportation website (Trottenberg and Rivkin 2016). The recommended range for the value of a statistical life is from \$5.2 million to \$12.9 million in 2012 dollars. Knowing the range for 2001 dollars allows the computation of the underlying geometric rate of inflation. Therefore, the range for 2019 was determined to be between \$5.7 million and \$14.9 million. A nominal midrange value of \$10.08 million was adopted for this evaluation.

COSTS AND BENEFITS OF ASCT INSTALLATIONS

The research team compiled cost information from various sources to incorporate this information into the cost-benefit analysis. Lodes and Benekohal (2013) reported in 2013 an average cost per intersection of \$28,725 for a pool of 62 jurisdictions surveyed in 2012. Specific to the systems evaluated in this study, the average cost was \$26,250 for ASC Lite and \$30,739 for InSync. Considering economic data in the last decade (Bureau of Labor Statistics 2019), the cumulative inflation rate between 2012 and 2019 in the United States is 11.8 percent. Therefore, the corresponding cost figures for 2019 are estimated at \$32,114 for the average, with the estimated value of ASC Lite and InSync being \$29,348 and \$30,739, respectively. For the analysis, the team used the average cost of installation for 2019: \$32,114. Lodes and Benekohal (2013) also report yearly maintenance costs ranging from \$5,000 to \$25,000, depending on the number of intersections. The research team interpolated between these values for a corridor of 20 intersections used in the calculations and obtained an average yearly cost of \$15,900. To calculate the cost of maintenance, the team used a 10-yr service life.

In addition, because NCHRP Synthesis 403 outlines additional recommended elements to include in cost estimations, the research team incorporated an additional cost of 10 to 15 percent per intersection to account for licensing to run the system (Stevanovic 2010).

A quantifiable benefit of installing ASCT is in reduced congestion. Shelby et al. (2008) reported a 35-percent reduction in delay per intersection from an evaluation of ASC Lite in Houston, TX. For this economic analysis, the research team assumed this reported average benefit. To translate this benefit to dollars, the research team revised the cost of congestion in the most recent INRIX traffic score card (INRIX 2019), which reports that the yearly cost of congestion per person is 97 hr, which translates to \$1,348 in 2018. Considering consumer price index information between 2018 and 2019, the corresponding future-to-present factor was determined to be 1.023, which translates to \$1,379 per person, or \$14.22 per hour in 2019.

To determine the scale of this cost at an intersection, the research team examined the survey results from a study by Lodes and Benekohal (2013) in which the authors reported average daily traffic (ADT) for intersections with ASCT installations. These researchers reported the average ADT on major roads was 32,667 vehicles per day (vpd), while the average ADT on minor roads was 14,133 vpd. Because these numbers are from 2012, they translate respectively to 36,521 vpd and 15,801 vpd in 2019. In comparison, the overall major and minor road ADT averages for the three States in this study were 35,266 and 9,927 vpd, respectively. Broken out by State, the averages for major and minor roads, respectively, were 47,731 and 14,828 vpd for Florida; 28,768 and 8,725 vpd for Texas; and 29,300 and 6,228 vpd for Virginia. The research team decided to adopt the average from the three States in this study in conjunction with two additional assumptions:

- An average level of service D (i.e., approaching unstable flow) per intersection, with 45 s of delay per vehicle is reduced to an average level of service C (i.e., stable but with occasional backups) with 28 s of delay per vehicle.
- An average of 1.2 passengers per vehicle.

Using these assumptions, the research team estimated the benefit of ASCTs due to congestion reduction as 86,602 passenger-hours saved per user per year per intersection, or \$1.23 million per year per intersection. This cost represents the cumulative value of lost time and productivity by roadway users over a year at an intersection due to congestion.

The average cost of a crash was computed using all severities, the guidance from U.S. Department of Transportation (Trottenberg and Rivkin 2016), and the average distribution of severe crashes at intersections. The proportion of KABC (i.e., fatal and injury) crashes found in the literature ranges from a low of 12 percent to a high of 38 percent (Anzek et al. 2005; Schroeder et al. 2012; Dutta et al. 2010; Ma et al. 2016). In the assembled databases, the KABC proportion was found to be consistent with that range: 44.6 percent for Florida, 29.6 percent for Texas, and 35.0 percent for Virginia. The research team selected the average of the three States (36.4 percent) for the economic analysis. Considering the average fatality rate as well (0.3 percent), the research team estimated the average cost of a crash at sites with ASCT installations as being \$470,139.

Considering this, the research team calculated the B/C ratio to be 65.56 in the case where the ASCT installation achieves the 13.3-percent reduction in total crashes, as was found for the Virginia dataset. The B/C ratio remains large (25.46) in the case where no crash reduction is achieved by the ASCT installation and only operational benefits are observed due to reduced congestion, as reported in the literature.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

This chapter describes the economic analysis performed to estimate the economic effectiveness of ASCTs. The chapter begins outlining the resources and assumptions involved in developing

B/C ratios for the three States in the evaluation. The economic analysis yielded B/C ratios larger than 1.0, a fact that indicates larger benefits than costs resulting from these types of implementation. The following chapter presents a summary and conclusions for the project.

CHAPTER 7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The objective of this study was to perform a rigorous safety effectiveness evaluation of ASCT at urban corridors. To accomplish the goals of this study, the research team compiled safety data from Florida, Texas, and Virginia. The evaluation included total, fatal and injury, and PDO crashes.

The project encompassed various corridors from multiple States. Results from Florida and Texas did not offer statistical evidence of a change in safety frequency derived from implementing ASCTs. For the analysis in Florida, the research team used an ITS-CG design, given the availability of a suitable set of control locations and implemented two estimation methods (EB and FB methods) that yielded similar, statistically insignificant estimates of effectiveness for four out of the five crash types evaluated. However, the EB analysis indicated a large and statistically significant increase (20.7 percent) in angle crashes after the installation of ASCTs. The more robust FB method found a similar estimate (a 23.9-percent increase) not to not statistically significant. The result from the FB method is considered the most plausible (i.e., no evidence of a change in angle-crash frequency) given that this method accounts for uncertainties that the EB method ignores.

The results from Virginia, which are based on an ITS design, indicated significant reductions in total crashes (13.3-percent reduction, or a CMF of 0.867, significant at the 10-percent significance level), fatal and severe crashes (35.8-percent reduction, or a CMF of 0.642, significant at the 5-percent significance level), and angle crashes (39.6-percent reduction, or a CMF of 0.604, significant at the 5-percent significance level). Safety improvements have been suggested by other authors as the result of reductions in delay, queue lengths, and travel time, as reported by Stevanovic et al. (2011). Other operational studies have shown reduced conflicts that could potentially yield fewer crashes (Sabra et al. 2010, 2013). Regarding crash-based evaluations, Ma et al. (2016) estimated a CMF of 0.83 for fatal and injury crashes and 0.92 for total crashes. The most optimistic results were reported by Khattak (2016) with reductions of 34 percent in total crashes and 45 percent in fatal and injury crashes.

Results from Texas, also based on an ITS design, showed mostly insignificant changes in safety associated with ASCT installations. The notable exception was a statistically significant reduction in rear-end crashes (44-percent reduction, or 0.560 CMF, significant at the 95-percent confidence level). The magnitude of this estimate is surprising, but the implication of a safety benefit is consistent with the ample trends in the literature.

Because of the mixed results (no statistically significant change in safety in Florida and significant crash reductions in Virginia and Texas), the research team conducted an economic evaluation using two scenarios: one in which the safety benefit estimated from the Virginia dataset is realized and one in which no measurable safety effect is realized (the worst-case outcome observed in this study). When assuming a safety improvement of a 13.3-percent reduction in total crashes (as indicated by the analysis results in Virginia), the research team estimated a B/C ratio of 65.56. When assuming no safety benefit derived from ASCT installations (as the results from Florida suggested), the B/C ratio estimate decreased to 25.46.

In both cases, a B/C ratio larger than 1.0 indicated that the benefits obtained from implementing ASCT outweigh the costs.

ACKNOWDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the contributions from the State departments of transportation that provided data and valuable feedback for completion of this study. The authors specifically acknowledge the following PFS, and non-PFS State DOTs for providing data that were used or considered in the study: Florida, Texas, Virginia, Oregon, and South Dakota.

REFERENCES

- AASHTO. (2005). AASHTO Strategic Highway Safety Plan. A Comprehensive Plan to Substantially Reduce Vehicle-related Fatalities and Injuries on the Nation's Highways, AASHTO, Washinton, DC.
- AASHTO. (2010). Highway Safety Manual, AASHTO, Washington, DC.
- Anzek, M., Kavran, Z., and Badanjak, D. (2005). *Adaptive Traffic Control as Function of Safety*, ITS World Congress, San Francisco.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2019). "Consumer Price Index." (website). Available online: <u>https://www.bls.gov/cpi/home.htm</u>, last accessed April 21, 2020.
- Campbell, D., and Ross, H. (1968). "The Connecticut Crackdown on Speeding: Time-Series Data in Quasi-Experimental Analysis." *Law and Society Review*, *3*(1), pp. 33–54, Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, NJ.
- Campbell, D., and Stanley, J. (1966). *Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Designs for Research*, Rand McNally, Chicago, IL.
- Clark, J. (2013). *InSync Adaptive Traffic Control Shows Initial Safety Benefits*, Rhythm Engineering, Lenexa, KS. Available online: <u>https://trafficbot.rhythmtraffic.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Safety Benefits of InSync.pdf</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- Dutta, U., Bodke, S., Dara, B., and Lynch, J. (2010). *Safety Evaluation of SCATS Control System*, Michigan Department of Transportation, Lansing, MI.
- ArcGIS Desktop, Release 10.5.1, Esri, Redlands, CA.
- FDOT. (2019). "Transportation Data and Analytics Office Transportation Data and Analytics Office, Geographic Information System (GIS)." (website). Available online: <u>https://www.fdot.gov/statistics/gis/default.shtm</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- FHWA. (2012). "Every Day Counts (EDC) Exchange: Adaptive Signal Control Technology— Managing Risks, Achieving Objectives." Webinar held August 16, 2012. Available online: <u>https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/innovation/everydaycounts/edc_exchange/asct.cfm</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- FHWA. (2014). "Active Transportation and Demand Management." (website). Available online: <u>http://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/atdm/index.htm</u>, last accessed April 2020.
- Fink, J., Kwigizile, V., and Oh, J. (2016). "Quantifying the Impact of Adaptive Traffic Control Systems on Crash Frequency and Severity: Evidence from Oakland County, Michigan." *Journal of Safety Research*, 57, pp. 1–7, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2016.01.001</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.

- Friedman, L., Hedeker, D., and Richter, E. (2009). "Long-term Effects of Repealing the National Maximum Speed Limit in the United States." *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(9), pp. 1626–1631, American Public Health Association, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.153726</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Gelfand, A., and Smith, A. (1990). "Sampling-Based Approaches to Calculating Marginal Densities." *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 85(410), pp. 398–409, Taylor and Francis, London, U.K. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1990.10476213, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Gillings, D., Makuc, D., & Siegel, E. (1981). "Analysis of Interrupted Time Series Mortality Trends: an Example to Evaluate Regionalized Perinatal Care." *American Journal of Public Health*, 71(1), pp. 38–46, American Public Health Association, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.71.1.38</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Gilks, W., Richardson, S., and Spiegelhalter, D. (1996). *Markov Chain Monte Carlo in Practice,* Chapman and Hall, Boca Raton, FL.
- Google Inc. (2019). *Google*® *Earth*™ Pro v7.3.2.5779. Mountain View, CA. Available online: <u>https://www.google.com/earth/versions/#earth-pro</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- Grundy, C., Steinbach, R., Edwards, P., Green, J., Armstrong, B., and Wilkinson, P. (2009).
 "Effects of 20 mph Traffic Speed Zones on Road Injuries in London 1986-2006: Controlled Interrupted Time Series Analysis." *BMJ* 339:b4469, BMJ Publishing Group Ltd., London, U.K. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b4469</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Hauer, E. (1997). *Observational Before–After Studies in Road Safety*, Emerald Group Publishing, Bingley, U.K.
- Hutton, J., Bokenkroger, C., and Meyer, M. (2010). Evaluation of an Adaptive Traffic Signal System: Route 291 in Lee's Summit, Missouri, Missouri Department of Transportation, Jefferson City, MO. Available online: <u>https://spexternal.modot.mo.gov/sites/cm/CORDT/or10020.pdf</u>, last accessed August 13, 2020.
- INRIX. (2019). "INRIX: Congestion Costs Each American 97 hours, \$1,348 A Year." News release dated February 11. Available online: <u>http://inrix.com/press-releases/scorecard-2018-us/</u>, last accessed August 13, 2020.
- Kergaye, C., Stevanovic, A., and Martin, P. (2009). "Comparison of Before–After versus Off-On Adaptive Traffic Control Evaluations." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2128, pp. 192–201, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3141/2128-20</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.

- Khattak, Z. (2016). "Evaluating the Operational and Safety Aspects of Adaptive Traffic Control Systems in Pennsylvania." Master's Thesis, University of Pittsburgh. Available online: <u>http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/26899/1/ZulqarnainKhattak_etdPitt2016_%28final%29.pdf</u>, last accessed July 29, 2020.
- Lan, B., Persaud, B., Lyon, C., and Bhim, R. (2009). "Validation of a Full Bayes Methodology for Observational Before–after Road Safety Studies and Application to Evaluation of Rural Signal Conversions." *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 41(3), pp. 574–580, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.02.010, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Lawrence, M., Hackey, A., Bahar, G., and Gross, F. (2018). *Highway Safety Benefit–Cost Analysis Guide*, Report No. FHWA-SA-18-001, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC.
- Li, W., Carriquiry, A., Pawlovich, M., and Welch, T. (2008). "The Choice of Statistical Models in Road Safety Countermeasure Effectiveness Studies in Iowa." *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 40(4), pp. 1531–1542, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2008.03.015</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Liu, J. (2001). Monte Carlo Strategies in Scientific Computing, Springer, New York, NY.
- Lodes, M., and Benekohal, R. (2013). Safety Benefits of Implementing Adaptive Signal Control Technology: Survey Results, Report No. FHWA-ICT-12-020, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC.
- Ma, J., Fontaine, M., Zhou, F., Hale, D., and Clements, M. (2015). "Estimation of the Safety Effects of an Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System." Presented at the 94th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, January 11–15, 2015, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC.
- Ma, J., Fontaine, M., Zhou, F., Hu, J., Hale, D., and Clements, M. (2016). "Estimation of Crash Modification Factors for an Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System." *Journal of Transportation Engineering*, 142(12), American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)TE.1943-5436.0000890</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Miaou, S., and Lord, D. (2003). "Modeling Traffic Crash-Flow Relationships for Intersections: Dispersion Parameter, Functional Form, and Bayes Versus Empirical Bayes." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 1840, pp. 31–40, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.3141/1840-04</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- NCHRP. (2003–2009). NCHRP Report 500: Guidance for Implementation of the AASHTO Strategic Highway Safety Plan, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>http://www.trb.org/Main/Public/Blurbs/152868.aspx</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.

- Orange County Government Florida. (2019). "Orange County Traffic Counts," (website). Available online: <u>https://www.orangecountyfl.net/</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- Park, E.S., Carlson, P., and Pike, A. (2019). "Safety Effects of Wet-Weather Pavement Markings." Accident Analysis and Prevention, 133, article 105271, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.105271</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Park, E.S., Park, J., and Lomax, T. (2010). "A Fully Bayesian Multivariate Approach to Before–After Safety Evaluation." *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 42(4), pp. 1118– 1127, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.12.026</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Pawlovich, M., Wen, L., Carriquiry, A., and Welch, T. (2006). "Iowa's Experience with Road Diet Measures: Use of Bayesian Approach to Assess Impacts on Crash Frequencies and Crash Rates." *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 1953, pp. 163–171, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198106195300119</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Persaud, B., Lan, B., Lyon, C., and Bhim, R. (2010). "Comparison of Empirical Bayes and Full Bayes Approaches for Before–after Road Safety Evaluations." *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 42(1), pp. 38–43, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2009.06.028</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Pinellas County Florida. (2019). "Pinellas County Enterprise GIS." (website). Available online: <u>http://new-pinellas-egis.opendata.arcgis.com/</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- Sabra, Z., Gettman, D., Henry, R., and Nallamothu, V. (2010). *Balancing Safety and Capacity in an Adaptive Signal Control System—Phase 1*, Report No. FHWA-HRT-10-038, Federal Highway Administration, Washington, DC.
- Sabra, Z., Gettman, D., Henry, R., and Nallamothu, V. (2013). Enhancing Safety and Capacity in an Adaptive Signal Control System—Phase 2, Sabra, Wang & Associates, Inc., Columbia, MD.
- Schroeder, J., Smith, T., Turnbull, K., Balke, K., Burris, M., Songchitruksa, P., Pessaro, B., et al. (2012). Seattle/Lake Washington Corridor Urban Partnership Agreement—National Evaluation: Interim Technical Memorandum on Early Results, FHWA-JPO-14-127, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington, DC.
- Shelby, S., Bullock, D., Ghaman, R., Sabra, Z., Soyke, N., and Gettman, D. (2008). "Overview and Performance Evlauation of ACS Lite—A low Cost Adaptive Signal Control System." Presented at the 87th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, held January 13–17. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC.

- Stevanovic, A. (2010). NCHRP Synthesis 403: Adaptive Traffic Control Systems: Domestic and Foreign State of Practice, Transportation Research Board of the National Academies, Washington, DC.
- Stevanovic, A., Kergaye, C., and Haigwood, J. (2011). "Assessment of Surrogate Safety Benefits of an Adaptive Traffic Control System." Third International Conference on Road Safety and Simulation, September 14–16, Indianapolis, IN.
- Stuart, E. (2010). "Matching Methods for Causal Inference: A Review and a Look Forward." Statistical Science, 25(1), pp. 1–21, Institute of Mathematical Statistics, Beachwood, OH. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1214/09-STS313</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Tageldin, A., Sayed, T., Zaki, M., and Azab, M. (2014). "A Safety Evaluation of an Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System Using Computer Vision." *Advances in Transportation Studies, Special Issue 2*, pp. 83–96, ATS International Journal, Rome, Italy. Available online: <u>http://www.atsinternationaljournal.com/index.php/2014-issues/special-issue-2014-vol2/752-a-safety-evaluation-of-an-adaptive-traffic-signal-control-system-usingcomputer-vision, last accessed December 3, 2020.</u>
- Tian, Z., Ohene, F., and Hu, P. (2011). "Arterial Performance Evaluation on an Adaptive Traffic Signal Control System." *Procedia—Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 16, pp. 230–239, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.04.445</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Trottenberg, P., and Rivkin, R. (2016). "Guidance on Treatment of the Economic Value of a Statistical Life in U.S. Department of Transportation Analyses." Available online: <u>https://www.transportation.gov/regulations/guidance-treatment-economic-value-statistical-life-us-department-transportation-analyses</u>, last accessed April 21, 2020.
- TxDOT. (2019a). "TxDOT Crash Report Online Purchase System," (website). Available online: <u>https://cris.dot.state.tx.us/public/Purchase/app/home/welcome</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- TxDOT. (2019b). "Roadway Inventory," (website). Available online: Available online: <u>https://www.txdot.gov/inside-txdot/division/transportation-planning/roadway-inventory.html</u>, last accessed July 27, 2020.
- USDOT. (2011). "Adaptive Signal Control Technology Overview," (website). Available online: <u>https://www.itskrs.its.dot.gov/its/benecost.nsf/ID/0c2f309992beb5c185257df200634f56?</u> <u>OpenDocument=&Query=Home</u>, last accesed October 6, 2020.
- Wagenaar, A. (1986). "Preventing Highway Crashes by Raising the Legal Minimum Age for Drinking: The Michigan Experience Six Years Later." *Journal of Safety Research*, 17(3), pp. 101–109, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4375(86)90024-1</u>, last accesed October 6, 2020.

- Wagenaar, A., and Maybee, R. (1986). "The Legal Minimum Drinking Age in Texas: Effects of an Increase from 18 to 19." *Journal of Safety Research*, 17(4), pp. 165–178, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4375(86)90067-</u><u>8</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Wagner, A., Soumerai, S., Zhang, F., and Ross-Degman, D. (2002). "Segmented Regression Analysis of Interrupted Time Series Studies in Medication Use Research." *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 27(4), pp. 299-309, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2710.2002.00430.x</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.
- Yanmaz-Tuzel, O., and Ozbay, K. (2010). "A Comparative Full Bayesian Before-and-After Analysis and Application to Urban Road Safety Countermeasurements in New Jersey." *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, 42(6), pp. 2099–2107, Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands. Available online: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2010.06.023</u>, last accessed December 3, 2020.

